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Group Financial Highlights

Our aim is to be the homebuilder of choice.
Our primary business is the development of
sustainable communities of high quality
homes in our selected markets in the UK,
North America and Spain.
We build shareholder value through profitable
growth and by improving capital management.

2004

Year ended 31 December

2003
as restated

.

Group turnover
Group operating profit
Profit before taxation
Basic earnings per share
Return on average capital employed*
Adjusted basic earnings per share**
Dividends per share
Net debt
Net gearing
Equity shareholders’ funds per share

£3,358.6m
£474.5m
£390.4m
46.2p
24.6%
48.2p
11.1p
£557.7m
34.1%
292.2p

Profit before taxation

2004

(before exceptional items)**
£m

2003

£2,669.4m
£339.5m
£300.5m
36.0p
24.7%
38.6p
8.9p
£742.9m
47.1%
256.2p

406.7
320.5

2002

245.1

.

Adjusted basic earnings
per share**

2004

pence

2002

48.2

2003

38.6
29.8

.

Dividends per share

,

2004

11.1

2003

pence

8.9

2002

7.4

.
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Chairman’s Statement

Today’s Taylor Woodrow –
delivering tomorrow’s homes
After some three years of continuous
and well managed change, Taylor
Woodrow today is a focused
homebuilding enterprise. Whilst
achieving optimal scale for operations
in the UK, the company has also
invested to deliver growth in North
America and Spain.
2004 was another successful year for Taylor Woodrow, with
good performances across all of our businesses. In the
United Kingdom, the housing market undoubtedly slowed
over the year from the unusually strong performance of
the latter part of 2003, but we derived additional value from
the acquisition of Wilson Connolly. In North America we
capitalised on strong market conditions throughout the
year and delivered exceptional organic growth. In Spain,
we continued to deliver excellent results.
In 2004 we
• Reported strong growth in profits, with profit before
tax rising 30%
• Achieved 60% growth in housing operating profits in
North America in dollar terms
• Successfully integrated Wilson Connolly
• Invested £590 million in land purchases across our
housing businesses, up 9% on last year
• Concluded the sale and disposal of the St. Katharine’s
Estate and contracted to sell the neighbouring K2
development property
• Generated cashflow from operating activities of
£400 million
NORMAN ASKEW, CHAIRMAN
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These achievements resulted from our strategy to create
shareholder value by investing selectively across a balanced
mix of housing markets.
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Chairman’s Statement
continued

AFTER SOME THREE YEARS
OF CONTINUOUS AND WELL
MANAGED CHANGE,
TAYLOR WOODROW TODAY IS
A FOCUSED HOMEBUILDING
ENTERPRISE.

GROUP TURNOVER
INCREASED BY

26%

WE CONTINUE TO INVEST IN
OUR WELL POSITIONED
SEGMENTS OF THE BUOYANT
NORTH AMERICAN MARKETS.

TO

£3,358.6
million
ADJUSTED EARNINGS PER
SHARE INCREASED BY

OPERATING PROFIT
INCREASED BY

40%

25%

TO

£474.5
million

Strong growth in profits
Group turnover increased by 26 per cent to £3,358.6
million (2003: £2,669.4 million). Operating profit rose by
40 per cent to £474.5 million. Operating margins, before
exceptional items and goodwill amortisation, were 14.0
per cent (2003: 14.0 per cent).
Profit before tax increased to £390.4 million (2003:
£300.5 million) and a return on average capital employed
of 24.6 per cent was achieved before exceptional items and
goodwill amortisation. Adjusted earnings per share rose
to 48.2 pence, an increase of 25 per cent.
Strong growth in dividends
The Board recommends an increase in the final dividend
for 2004 to 8.1 pence from 6.5 pence in 2003. This, together
with the interim dividend of 3.0 pence paid on 1 November
2004, makes a total dividend for the year of 11.1 pence,
an increase of 25 per cent. Subject to confirmation at the
Annual General Meeting on 26 April 2005, the dividend
will be paid on 1 July 2005 to shareholders on the register
at close of business on 3 June 2005.
This dividend will be paid as a conventional cash dividend
but shareholders are once again being offered the
opportunity to reinvest some or all of their dividend under
the Dividend Re-investment Plan, details of which are
contained in a separate circular to shareholders.

4 Taylor Woodrow Report and Accounts 2004

Strong cash flow
During the twelve months to December 2004, there was
a net inflow of cash from operating activities of £400.4
million compared to an inflow of £247.4 million in 2003.
Debt issues
We completed two debt issues in 2004 which refinanced
existing bank debt. £200 million was raised in the
Eurobond market and US$250 million through a US dollar
private placement. Both issues were rated BBB+ by Fitch.
The bulk of the Group’s core funding requirements are
now provided through equity and long term debt. Net
debt was £557.7 million at the end of December 2004
(2003: £742.9 million). At the year end, net gearing was
34.1 per cent.
Pensions
FRS 17 ‘Retirement Benefits’ was implemented during
the year and the Financial Statements have been prepared
on that basis. During the period we agreed amendments
to the company’s pension arrangements to mitigate
current and future exposures. One consequence of this
has been a £24.8 million exceptional profit arising from
the reduction of future pension accruals. Broadly
speaking, as a result of additional money purchase
arrangements, overall targeted benefits have been
kept at similar levels for members of the pension
schemes concerned.

Board changes
As we had previously announced, Sir George Russell
retired from the Board on 19 April 2004. On behalf of the
Board I would like to express our deep appreciation of the
contribution Sir George made to the Group over his
eleven years as a non-executive director of the company.
We were pleased to welcome Vernon Sankey, who joined
the Board on 1 January 2004.
Our people
Our excellent results would not have been possible
without the continuing commitment and professionalism
of our people. To my Board colleagues, our management
and all our teams I express my appreciation for all their
endeavours over the year.
Appreciation is also due to our customers, trading
partners, shareholders and the other stakeholders in our
business. May I offer my thanks for all the support they
give us.

two major acquisitions in the UK, which provide us with
national scale, the company remains committed to
growing its North American business. Today, Taylor
Woodrow is a leader in the regeneration market, while
maintaining a mix of traditional housing. At the same time,
we have disposed of our non-core property assets.
The benefits of a diversified investment strategy and the
success of our investment programme have been
apparent in a period when UK markets have weakened
relative to previous years, but North American markets
have continued to be very strong.
Looking ahead, the company now has the people, skills
and financial strength to grow in any of its markets.
Although demand in each region may fluctuate from one
year to the next, the markets in which we operate remain
attractive. We continue to benefit from a stable economic
environment, demographic change and, in the UK, the
historic under-supply of new homes.

Shareholder information
Full details of the facilities available to shareholders can be
found in the 2005 Annual General Meeting Circular and on
the company’s website.
Focused for growth
After some three years of continuous and well managed
change, Taylor Woodrow is now a focused homebuilding
enterprise with a diversified portfolio. Whilst consolidating

Norman Askew
Chairman
1 March 2005
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Chief Executive’s Review

“Taylor Woodrow 2004 is a triumph
of commercial re-invention” –
Building Awards 2004

IAIN NAPIER, CHIEF EXECUTIVE

The transformation of Taylor Woodrow in the UK from
a group of diverse, semi-autonomous companies into
one, integrated housing business was acknowledged by
our industry this year when the company was declared
Major House Builder of the Year at the annual Building
magazine awards.
After a sustained period of corporate change, this award
was a tribute to the dedicated endeavours of all the Taylor
Woodrow team members and key suppliers involved.
During the last three years, we have integrated all our
UK operations into one housing development company,
directly supported by a construction operation skilled in
urban regeneration. We have disposed of non-core
property assets but retained skills and expertise to
underpin our ventures in mixed use development. The
acquisition of Wilson Connolly and investment in strategic
land provide us with a platform for future organic growth.
In the UK, the main focus in the first half of 2004 was the
integration of Wilson Connolly. This was successfully
achieved and we remain on track to deliver £25 million in
synergies and benefits in 2005. In the second half of the
year the market slowed following successive interest
rate rises – nevertheless our national presence coupled
with attractive products and locations enabled us to
deliver a satisfactory performance.
While the UK market began to slow, North America offered
better land opportunities and we redirected capital towards
these markets in line with our investment strategy.
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Our North American business, where we operate in
five of the ten highest growth markets, has gone from
strength to strength, achieving significantly improved
returns on capital employed and profit growth. We have
continued to increase our investment and will maintain
a balanced portfolio of low-rise, hi-rise and land
development projects targeted at a range of consumer
segments and price points.
We successfully expanded our California business, and
the benefits of our strategy to move our price and product
offerings more into the mid market were seen this year.
The Phoenix, Arizona market was exceptionally strong
and our move to the middle market was well timed.
Our approach in this market, to acquire large tranches
of land, then sell parcels to other builders, enables us
to retain the premier lots and develop houses with strong
customer demand.
In Canada we had an excellent year. The low-rise market
remained buoyant and we saw improving trading
conditions in our hi-rise projects as the level of overall
inventory in the marketplace decreased.
In Texas, we expanded our presence in Houston, and
acquired several new homebuilding projects in Austin
to complement our successful Steiner Ranch land
development.
In Florida, our country club communities benefited from
strong markets and we launched three new beachfront
hi-rise condominiums, which sold strongly off plan. At 31
December 2004, Florida had presold 659 homes for 2005
and beyond.
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Chief Executive’s Review
continued

NORTH AMERICA HOME
COMPLETIONS ROSE BY

OPERATING PROFIT FROM
HOUSING OPERATIONS
WORLDWIDE INCREASED BY

30%

26%

THE COMPANY HAS
ACQUIRED GOOD STOCKS
OF STRATEGIC LAND
HOLDINGS IN AREAS
DESIGNATED AS GROWTH
REGIONS BY THE GOVERNMENT.

WE DRIVE INNOVATION
IN BOTH PRODUCT DESIGN
AND DELIVERY.WE ALSO
SEEK INNOVATIVE
SOLUTIONS TO IMPROVING
CUSTOMER SERVICE AND
SUPPLIER MANAGEMENT.

CONSTRUCTION
PERFORMED WELL
REPORTING OPERATING
PROFIT BEFORE
EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS OF

£9.4
MILLION

Our markets in Spain and Gibraltar remained healthy,
although margins were, as expected, down on the
exceptional levels of 2002 and 2003. We continue to invest
for future growth in these markets with new communities
in Alicante scheduled for release in 2005.
As the second largest UK based homebuilder, we have
achieved a sound base on which we can continue to grow
our business by selectively directing capital to the variety of
growth channels available to us in the UK, North America
and in our successful niche markets in Spain and Gibraltar.
More change can be expected in our business
environment, particularly in the UK, where the
government wishes to address the shortfall in supply of
new homes. The Barker Review, commissioned by HM
Treasury to investigate housing supply, confirmed that
more than 200,000 new homes per annum are required
and that the industry as a whole is only currently providing
around 160,000 per annum.
The company has acquired good stocks of strategic land
holdings in areas such as the M11 corridor, Ashford, Kent
and Milton Keynes, which have been designated as
growth regions under the government’s Sustainable
Communities proposals.
We have engaged government in consultation at various
levels, presenting our professional view on homebuilding
issues directly to Ministers. We have also lent
management expertise on initiatives established by the
Office of the Deputy Prime Minister, such as provision of
affordable housing and homes for key workers.
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Business review
Housing
Our housing operations worldwide recorded a 26 per cent
rise in operating profits before goodwill and exceptional
items to £448.8 million (2003: £356.4 million) on turnover
of £2,874.0 million (2003: £2,236.8 million). During the
year we sold 13,092 homes, compared to 10,819 homes
in 2003.
In the UK, we completed 9,053 homes, up 18 per cent
on 2003. Operating profit, before exceptional items and
goodwill amortisation, increased to £301.1 million (2003:
£246.0 million) and average selling prices increased by
nine per cent to £197,000. Operating margins improved
to 15.6 per cent from an adjusted proforma of 14.9 per
cent in 2003. At year end, our forward order book was
£407 million.
At the year end, the UK land bank stood at 32,459 plots,
equivalent to a 3.6 year supply, based on 2004 home
completions. In addition our strategic land portfolio
contains a potential 84,000 further plots which will
contribute to our land bank in coming years. The vast
majority of these strategic plots are held under option.
During 2004, 18 per cent of our completions came from
strategic land holdings. Some 64 per cent of our
completions in the UK were from brownfield land holdings.

employed increased to 39.2 per cent (2003: 27.1 per cent).
Total home completions rose by 30 per cent to 3,635.
Average selling prices for home completions in North
America increased by 10 per cent to US$374,000. The
increase reflects the strength of our products in their local
markets and the impact of our successful move upwards
towards the mid-market in Arizona.
Overall, operating margins improved to 14.8 per cent in
North America and, at the year end, the order book stood
at US$1,246 million, up 57 per cent on last year. Our
North America land bank stands at 30,009 lots, a 5.0
year supply, based on 2004 home and lots completions.

With the disposal of St. Katharine’s and the contract
to sell the K2 development, we have now substantially
exited the property business.
We look forward in anticipation of another year of
progress in 2005.

Iain Napier
Chief Executive
1 March 2005

Our business in Spain and Gibraltar has continued to
perform well, with an operating margin of 26.3 per cent.
Operating profit reduced by one per cent to £20.1 million.
Our year end land bank in this region stood at 1,233 plots,
3.1 years’ supply, based on 2004 home completions.
Construction and property
Construction performed well, reporting operating profit
of £9.4 million before exceptional items. At year end, its
forward order book stood at £815 million, up four per cent
on 2003. During the first half of 2004 we were selected
as the preferred bidder for the St. Helens PFI hospital
contract. This major construction and facilities
management contract will enter the order book on
financial close, which is expected during 2005.

In North America, housing operating profit, before
goodwill amortisation and exceptional items, increased
by 42 per cent to £127.6 million. Profit in local currency
increased by 58 per cent and return on average capital
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Markets
United Kingdom

In our selected markets, we offer a
range of homes to suit our customers’
varied lifestyles:

. Livingston .

EAST
LOTHIAN

Edinburgh

Glasgow

Scotland

NORTH
AYRSHIRE

SOUTH
LANARKSHIRE

.

SCOTTISH BORDERS

Alnwick

South East
With its headquarters in Crawley,
the South East region covers Kent,
east and west Sussex and Surrey,
and has a wide variety of housing,
ranging from larger, family homes
to riverside studio apartments such
as those at Delta Riverside in
Maidstone, Kent. This development
includes a number of key worker
homes with easy access to the
town centre.

EAST AYRSHIRE
NORTHUMBERLAND

SOUTH
AYRSHIRE

..

Newcastle

T &W
Sunderland

North East/
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CUMBRIA
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Blackpool
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Kingston upon Hull

Blackburn
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Construction
Our construction business, based in
Watford, focuses on repeat work for
blue chip clients, healthcare, PFI and
facilities management, in addition to
direct support of ‘in-house’
developments. The team secured
the Quality in Construction’s
Supreme Award in 2004 for the
redevelopment of the Royal Albert
Hall. Key business wins included the
securing of the £72 million facilities
management commission for O2 and
selection as preferred bidder for a
major PFI project at St. Helens
Hospital. Successful delivery has led
to securing project work for Crossrail,
the Brit Oval cricket ground
redevelopment, and construction of
the West London Academy and the
Welsh National Assembly Building.
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London London
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.
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.
Watford
.
. .
Newbury
.
. .

Solihull Coventry

Worcester

.

Leicester RUTLAND
LEICESTERSHIRE

Birmingham

West Midlands

East Midlands

.

Lichfield

.

SHROPSHIRE

.

.

Derby

BE
DF
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DS
HI
RE
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E

.

Shrewsbury

.

Lincoln

LINCOLNSHIRE
Nottingham
Boston

DERBYSHIRE

Stokeon-trent
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.
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.
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RT
F

.

GT. MAN

MERSEYSIDE
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h
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West Midlands
In Solihull, home of Taylor
Woodrow’s central office as well
as the West Midlands region, the
company is building a range of
properties at affordable prices in
Wharf Lane, targeting first-time
buyers and young families.
Elsewhere, the Telford Millennium
Community will comprise up to 800
new homes, a new primary school,
local shops, recreation, community
and health services.

WEST YORKSHIRE

HI

Anglia
Covering Cambridgeshire, Suffolk
and Norfolk, homes range from
apartments on city centre
developments in Norwich and
Cambridge, with a broader range
of family housing provided across
the region in and around the larger
market towns such as Bury St.
Edmunds and Newmarket. The
majority of Anglia’s developments
will provide affordable housing.

E
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North West
The North West region reaches from
north Wales to Lancashire with
almost 40 active sites in 2004.
Its regional office is in Warrington.
Together with a range of traditional
homes, the region is leading the way
with designs for tomorrow. Taylor
Woodrow’s Green Building at
Macintosh Village, Manchester, is

FIFE
STIRLING

IR
SH
AM
GH
IN
CK
BU

Scotland
Taylor Woodrow’s regional office in
Livingston is strategically placed
between Scotland’s two largest
cities, and the company develops
homes predominantly in the highly
populated central belt. In Glasgow,
we are delivering a part of the
£500 million major regeneration of
Glasgow Harbour, building 321
apartments. In Edinburgh, Newington
Grange, the refurbishment of a
former college campus, won
Channel 4 4Homes Best New
Housing Development in 2004.

East Midlands
With its headquarters in Leicester,
the East Midlands region stretches
from Northamptonshire to
Lincolnshire. Among around 30
projects in the region, Taylor Woodrow
is regenerating previously used
buildings at St. Crispins, Northampton,
where 950 homes are being built
on an old hospital site, including the
conversion of a former nurses’ home
into 29 luxury apartments.

ANGUS
PERTH AND KINROSS

DS

Eastern
Taylor Woodrow’s Eastern region
stretches from Essex in the east
through Herts and Beds to Bucks
in the west, with headquarters in
Welwyn Garden City. Products
range from apartments to family
homes. In June 2004 work started
on a new 2,500 home urban village
in Colchester.

South
This region covers Dorset to southern
Oxfordshire and is headquartered in
Newbury. Sensitive to the local
community, the coloured rendering
at Taylor Woodrow’s Petersfield
development in Hampshire ensures
that homes reflect the local
vernacular. 105 of the 293 homes at
Langley Woods in Slough are
affordable and rented accommodation.

one of the UK’s most environmentally
advanced buildings. Modular housing
units, manufactured off-site will be
used at Didsbury, also in Manchester.
Taylor Woodrow has also teamed up
with the National Trust to develop
Stamford Brook – a unique,
sustainable development of energyefficient homes, in Altrincham,
Cheshire.

OR

South West
Covers the South West and into
South Wales, with its head office
near Bristol and the motorway
network. Developments range from
the high-profile 477 apartment
Victoria Wharf project in Cardiff, to a
prestigious development of luxury
homes at the heart of Cheltenham,
designed to reflect the style of the
town’s 19th century villas.

Yorkshire and North East
One of the largest of Taylor
Woodrow’s eleven UK regions,
with its head office in Leeds.
Developments in 2004 included
exclusive duplex apartments close
to Harrogate’s famous Stray and
Baltic Quay, the 241 apartment
development on the River Tyne in
Gateshead. The region is also
developing Newcastle Great Park
just four miles from Newcastle city
centre. Plans for the development
include 2,500 energy efficient
homes set in 442 hectares of
parkland plus a further 80 hectares
of commercial development space.

ST
AF
F

London
Taylor Woodrow’s in-house skills
are invaluable in the UK Capital,
where development opportunities
increasingly involve brownfield land.
The regional team has six sites
being developed in the London
Borough of Bromley alone. These
sites, at Keston, Bickley, Orpington,
Pettswood, Beckenham and Biggin
Hill, will deliver 476 homes over the
next two years.

.

Dartmouth

Penzance
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Markets
International

Living in a changing world

Florida
The Florida operations are
concentrated in the markets of
Tampa/Sarasota, Naples/Fort Myers,
Palm Beach Gardens and Panama
City. The company is highly regarded
for its ability to develop award
winning master planned
communities offering numerous
lifestyle choices. Home styles range
from luxury single family estates
fronting golf-courses to attached
condominiums on lakes and natural
reserves. The company has a diverse
target market including primary,
second-home and retirees, and
offers homes priced from
US$200,000 to over US$2,000,000.
Recently, the company has enjoyed
success focusing on the beachfront
hi-rise sector.
Arizona
Taylor Woodrow’s Arizona operations
are concentrated in Phoenix, one
of the fastest growth markets in
North America with over 45,000
new homes built annually. The Arizona
business has successfully capitalised
on the growing market by blending
land development activities with
highly efficient scale homebuilding.
Building on its roots in the first-time
buyer market, Taylor Woodrow
is now developing a diverse
presence including the middle
market with homes priced from the
US$150,000’s to over US$300,000.

Canada
The company’s well respected
Canadian operations, trading under
the Monarch brand, are based
in Toronto with a growing satellite
operation in Ottawa, the nation’s
capital. Monarch’s products span
every market segment and include
affordable town homes, large family
homes and urban hi-rises priced
from Can$110,000 to over
Can$500,000. In addition to its
merchant homebuilding operations,
Monarch has significant experience
in community developments, which
include varied amenities, such as
golf courses.
Texas
Taylor Woodrow’s Texas operations
are based in Houston and Austin.
The company is growing its
homebuilding operations to
complement its development
projects in both markets and is
targeting the move-up market
for families and the empty
nester segment in golf course
communities. Prices for the
company’s homes range from
US$250,000 to over US$500,000.

housing types, from first-time
buyers in attached town homes
and condominiums to luxury family
and second homes. In Southern
California, the company is active
from San Diego to Los Angeles along
the coastline and has expanded its
presence in the growing and more
affordable Inland Empire area. In
Northern California,Taylor Woodrow is
increasing its investment and is
focused on high quality urban projects
concentrated in Silicon Valley.

The world we live in is changing fast.
Our success comes from understanding
what customers want and providing it.

Spain
Taylor Woodrow targets primarily
the holiday homebuyer at its
developments in mainland Spain and
Mallorca, with product ranging from
small family homes to luxury golf
and country club developments.
Gibraltar
Taylor Woodrow operates in the
profitable top-end market, with a
focus on luxury apartments and
penthouses. Developments include
the three-tower Tradewinds
complex, housing 83 one to threebedroom apartments, ranging from
£280,000 to over £1 million.

California
Taylor Woodrow benefits from a
significant premium for its brand
in the California market and has
successfully diversified its product
offering across the spectrum of

Canada
Ontario

Spain

BARCELONA

MADRID
Mallorca

USA

Minorca

VALENCIA
Ibiza

California

1.

Arizona

2.

3.

Texas
Florida

MARBELLA
GIBRALTAR

Design for life
Our customer research starts before we buy the land,
making sure that we understand who the likely buyers
are, what they would like to see in their homes, and how
they use their living space. This helps us to design the
layout of our developments, and the use of space within
the home.
This insight has enabled us to draw up a portfolio of home
designs to meet most customer needs at an affordable
price, ensuring every square foot of space is used to best
advantage whilst maximising availability of daylight and
storage room. We are continually improving the range,
based on feedback from our homebuyers and as we find
ways to build more efficiently.
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In North America, we carefully review our existing home
styles when entering a new community, in order to
balance the benefits of maintaining our current designs
with the ever evolving aspirations of our customers.
Design Centres have been introduced in most of our
North American markets, providing our homebuyers
with professional interior design services to personalise
their homes in a wide range of decorative finishes and
design choices.
1. Victoria Park, Lichfield
2. Contemporary living in Aspen, Didsbury
3. Homes in Vasari, Naples, Florida
Taylor Woodrow Report and Accounts 2004 13

Living in a changing world
continued
We now have options programmes available in all of our
main homebuilding operations. Customers have the ease
and convenience of ‘one stop’ shopping for kitchens,
flooring, bathrooms, conservatories, lighting, garden
design and many other features to enhance their new
2. customers, this
home. As well as improving our service to
also provides a growing revenue stream.

Making it home
Once customers have chosen their home, we try to make
it easier to choose the interior designs that will personalise
it for them. In 2004, the company formed an innovation
group to evaluate new products and processes that could
make our business more efficient and effective. One thread
of this work becomes available directly to customers
through our evolving range of interior design options.

Making it easy
Moving home is never easy, but we try to make it as
enjoyable and stress free as we can – even providing play
areas for children to enjoy while their parents choose the
kitchen of their dreams, and giving young ones specially
written books about moving home.

People want to be able to use their homes in different
ways. Some want to use new technologies at home to
make their lives simpler. Some are conscious of style
and fashion and want where they live to reflect their own
personality and choice of lifestyle.

UK
Bryant Homes is making it easier for customers to
choose by installing purpose built marketing suites in long
term, flagship sites. These provide discreet and attractive
environments to showcase both homes and key
additional design features. The suites can present product
in advance of the build programme for all sites in a region,
alerting customers to the coming opportunities and
helping generate forward sales.

Bryant Connect offers UK buyers a number of multi-media
applications within the home. On many sites, home
owners can choose home cinema, multi room audio and
advanced security systems. At our Langley development,
baby cams have been installed which link directly to home
TV sets to ensure an ever present, watchful parental eye.

1.

Space has been cleverly used to establish an interactive
customer experience. State of the art TV monitors hang
from the ceilings to inform purchasers about local areas
and internet pods link up to TW España sites for those
considering a second home in Spain.
North America
In North America, Taylor Woodrow’s customer focus is
projected through its brand marketing programmes under
the legend ‘Inspired By You’. The approach reflects the
direct input of consumer research into the design,
construction and presentation of our product.
The focus of our homebuilding operations is centred on
our passion for quality. We care as much as our customers
about the quality of the homes we build. We believe
in open and honest communication with our purchasers,
establish clear expectations, and strive to deliver on
our promises.

2.

1.

Innovative marketing suite at Wharf Lane,
Solihull
2. An example of a community in California
which offers an impressive list of
technological options – including plasma
home screen theatres, closed circuit remote
room monitors and sophisticated home
security, kitchen computers and whole
house digital music systems
3. Customers’ children can enjoy a specially
created ‘Toby and Tina’ book all about
moving home
4. Our North American team reflects customer
insight through their ‘Inspired By You’
campaign
Opposite: Orchard Grange, Edinburgh
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Powerful people

Simon Redshaw,
Production Manager, describes
the integration of Wilson
Connolly into the business.
“It’s fantastic how quickly the
two companies have come
together. It has given me the
opportunity to manage some of
the biggest sites in the region.
I’m having a great time!“

1.

Linda Mitchell, one of the vice
presidents of Monarch
received the Riley Brethour
award, which recognises
industry professionals who
have demonstrated
leadership, creativity and
innovation in sales and
marketing in Toronto’s
building community.

2.
1.
2.
3.
4.

5.
3.

4.

The transformation of Taylor Woodrow
has been driven by our people. They have
delivered good results and growth across
all our strategic markets whilst managing
enormous change in organisation,
working patterns and individual
responsibilities.

6.

Simon Redshaw, Production Manager in the West Midlands
region receiving the NHBC ‘Pride in the Job’ award
Paula Scott, Sales Consultant from Wharf Lane, Solihull receiving
her award for National Homes Consultant of the Year
Winning graduates at Kings Cross – Lucy Penman, winner of the
NCE Graduate of the Year award, with Daniel Jenkin, runner up
Penny Hedderman, a sales advisor in Bury St. Edmunds and
Justin Iannacone, the divisional controller for Arizona – joint
winners of the ‘You’re a Brick’ recognition programme for team
members who go above and beyond their roles
Linda Mitchell, Vice President Sales and Marketing, Hi-rise
division, Monarch
The UK Training and Development team headed by Alison Hunt

In the UK, team members from Taylor Woodrow and
Wilson Connolly have come together to create larger
scale and more efficient regional operations. The transition
from two separate companies into one focused
organisation has been swift and effective. Individuals in all
areas of activity have taken up roles with broader scope
and responsibilities, enhancing personal experience at
the same time as delivering commercial benefits resulting
from a lower fixed cost base overall.
We encourage our team members to take an active
role in the broader homebuilding industry and in their
communities.
Our team members across the UK, North America and
Spain are also being given further opportunities to share
in the business success that they generate by taking a
greater financial stake in the organisation through
sharesave and share purchase plans.

5.

Looking to the future, the company is working directly
and through industry initiatives to attract new talent into
the business. For example, we have embarked on a
collaborative drive with the Construction Industry Training
Board to train up to 200 apprentices a year in essential
site crafts such as bricklaying and plumbing. We sponsor
24 students in UK universities each year and recruit at
least 35 graduates. We take a structured and proactive
approach to succession management. Business
development programmes are in place providing
opportunity for people to assume greater responsibility
in our enlarged organisation.
We have also signed up to the Workforce Competence
Initiative which aims to ‘qualify’ the UK’s building
workforce, both operative and management. The objective
is to improve levels of safety awareness and skills in the
industry whilst giving individuals the opportunity to grow
and gain externally recognised qualifications.

6.
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Making best use of a scarce resource
1.

Ken Livingstone, the Mayor of London, handing over keys
to teacher Jane Connell at Grand Union Village, Northolt
2. Taylor Woodrow is working with the National Trust to develop
Stamford Brook – an innovative, sustainable development
in Cheshire
3. Work on site at Grand Union Village, Northolt
4. Glasgow Harbour, Scotland

Grand Union Village “is
a model development, a
template that I would urge
other developers to follow.
It’s a remarkable example
of what can be done when
we work together.”
Ken Livingstone

2.

1.

Taylor Woodrow is rising to the challenge
of developing sustainable communities
that make best use of both previously
used and greenfield land.
The company has considerable expertise
in the development of city centre mixed
use sites. These contain a wider mix
of housing types, often with integrated
infrastructure and commercial and
retail facilities.

We led the way for private developer provision of
affordable homes for key workers, particularly in London
and the South of England. We were the first company to
deliver affordable homes under the government’s £250
million Starter Home Initiative. We were also the first to
receive Housing Corporation accreditation for a national
range of Affordable Housing designs, which will allow
us to improve the efficiency of the design, planning and
build process.
The Mayor of London, Ken Livingstone, has said that
the provision of affordable housing is essential for the
city’s future and clearly this is a prerequisite of
any planning permissions of scale within the Capital’s
conurbation. One example of Taylor Woodrow’s
involvement in this area is the Grand Union Village project.
Once the site of Taylor Woodrow’s headquarters, this is
being redeveloped to provide over 700 new homes,
alongside offices, retail and leisure facilities. 244 homes
here will provide low cost housing.

3.

4.

In total, 64 per cent of our developments in the UK in
2004 were on brownfield sites. Even in North America
where greenfield land is generally more available for
development than in densely populated Europe, 25 per
cent of our projects are on brownfield sites where
redevelopment has been more attractive commercially
than the acquisition of new land.
We develop greenfield land responsibly, in line with the
UK government’s own ‘Sustainable Communities’
agenda. One of the largest Bryant sites, The Swindon
Development Area, has been cited as an exemplar in the
Urban Design Coding pilot programme. This was set up
to provide clarity over acceptable design quality for
developers and local communities. Up to 4,500 new
homes, again with a mix of commercial, leisure and retail
premises, are planned here. The scheme has been
highlighted as a ‘best practice’ example for statements of
community involvement – a government initiative
intended to ensure wider planning consultation.
We have taken good land positions in areas that have
already been identified by government as the regions best
suited to accommodate future housing growth. These
include Ashford in Kent and the A1 – M11 corridor north
of London.
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End to end value
Integrated supply chain
management across our UK
business focuses on leveraging
our scale, to improve value
and quality from key suppliers
of materials and services,
so that we in turn can deliver
better value and quality to
our customers.

Our supply chain logistics business WCL, which we
acquired with Wilson Connolly, sources bulk materials
directly from manufacturers to prepare ‘just in time’
delivery of ‘build packs’ for each stage of the building
process. This allows us to reduce the amount of stock on
site at any one time and reduce end to end costs. We are
now extending its use across the business to further
improve efficiency.

1.

Built-in efficiency
We have increased the use of timber frame construction,
in order to reduce build time on site. Most of our timber
frame components are now supplied by Prestoplan,
which we also acquired with Wilson Connolly. Prestoplan
is one of the country’s largest timber frame construction
companies providing design and off site fabrication
services for both social and private housing.
Over the past three years we have reduced the number
of suppliers we work with. By partnering with fewer
selected suppliers we are achieving ongoing cost and
quality improvements.
We measure supplier performance against criteria
such as quality, safety, planning and delivery, pricing
and value. We work with suppliers to improve their
performance and remove those who are not able to
meet our standards.
In North America we continue to capitalise on our
increasing scale as one of the top 20 largest builders
to drive efficiencies and save costs. We successfully
expanded central purchasing programmes in a number
of product areas; shared best practice and process
through our central information technology platform
and leveraged the Taylor Woodrow brand through several
company-wide marketing programmes including
our website.

2.

1. Laying the floor to a home in Petersfield, Hampshire
2. Calders Green, in Cheshire
3. John Coker, Regional Managing Director of the
Yorkshire/North East region with David Bowman
4. Hanwell Fields, Banbury
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Taylor Woodrow has been
through enormous change
over the past three years as
we have repositioned
ourselves for growth in our
core homebuilding markets.

In 2004, Wilson Connolly was integrated successfully
into Taylor Woodrow to create a new major force in the
UK housing industry. We have transformed our UK
homebuilding business from a small player in 2001 to
one of the industry leaders today. The company now has
a network of regional operations with sufficient scale to
provide efficiencies, and the essential skills to grow in
today’s complex housing market.
Today our 11 operating regions produce from 600 to 1,075
units per region. All our regions use the same systems
and processes, which allows them to operate efficiently

3.

and allows us to address systematically our operating
costs. We have used our capital and resources
strategically to invest in larger sites than in the past. These
typically support more homes, and of greater variety than
previously, but do not require proportionately more
attention than smaller sites from managerial and
professional staff. Our teams are thereby able to cover
greater areas of production without undue strain on time
or travel commitments.
As we have become a focused homebuilder, we have
retained the key skills we need to be successful. Taylor
Woodrow construction’s expertise has been deployed in
risk assessment and remediation of the more complex
brownfield sites that increasingly characterise major
British land opportunities. Innovation in bio-remediation,
for example, has been particularly effective at our Grand
Union Village development in West London. Use of microorganisms and plants to decontaminate polluted land and
water has replaced more than 22,000 lorry journeys and
saved £880,000 in land fill costs, with unquantifiable
environmental benefits of reduced dust and noise pollution.
In North America, our strategy is to build scale operations
in each market in which we operate. This allows us to
build better relationships with landowners, leverage our
purchasing power and develop our brand without
increasing central overheads.

4.

John Coker (left) runs one of the company’s largest
regions, building over 1,000 homes each year in
Yorkshire and the North East. “With the changes in
our supply base, technology, and the management
processes we have today, we are able to operate
more efficiently and at a much larger scale than I
could have imagined when I joined the industry
30 years ago”.
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Operational and Financial Review
Highlights
• Return on average capital 24.6% *
• Group operating profit increased by 40% to £474.5 million.
• Profit before tax up 30% to £390.4 million.
• UK housing margin up from 14.9% (full year proforma basis)
to 15.6% *
• North American housing margin up from 13.1% to 14.8% *
• Adjusted earnings per share up 25% from 38.6p to 48.2p **
*Adjusted for exceptional items and goodwill as detailed in Notes 1 and 2 to the Financial Statements.
** Adjusted for exceptional items as detailed in Note 8 to the Financial Statements.
Group operating profit (£m)

Average total capital employed allocation,
excluding goodwill (£m)
UK housing
North American housing
Spanish and Gibraltar housing
Commercial property
Investment property
Construction

1,445.7

2004

325.9

2003

38.5

2002

138.6

2001

71.3

2000

Operating profit of £470.1 million before
goodwill amortisation and exceptional items
by geographical market (2003: £374.5 million)

Land bank – 63,701 plots owned/controlled with planning
consent (2003: 62,085 plots)

North
America
30,009

North
America
£127.6m

United
Kingdom
£317.4m

United
Kingdom
32,459

Rest of World
£25.1m

Total home completions

339.5

474.5

2004

000.0

2003

257.7
224.2
165.7

13,092

2004

9,053
7,690

2003
2002

8,370

2001
2000

Total UK home completions

10,819

2002

Rest of World
1,233

2001

7,096

6,238
5,226

2000 1,919

3,810

(111.6)

Strategy and business objectives
Total housing

With over 95 per cent of operating profit* coming from
housing, Taylor Woodrow’s aim is to be the homebuilder of
choice in our selected markets of the United Kingdom and
within North America and Spain.
Taylor Woodrow seeks to build sustainable shareholder
value by growing profitability. To this end, the company’s
primary house building business is supported by the
commercial and construction skills necessary to compete
effectively in an increasingly complex housing
environment in the UK.
We delivered strong profit growth in 2004, reflecting
North American growth and the full year benefits of the
Wilson Connolly acquisition, which was completed in
October 2003. Group operating profits grew by 40 per cent
to £474.5 million. Profit before tax was up 30 per cent at
£390.4 million.
Owing to the heavy weighting of Wilson Connolly’s
housing completions and land sales to the last quarter of
2003, its post acquisition results do not reflect the
underlying margin; the full year proforma figures have
been shown above to provide a meaningful comparison.
Net exceptional items of £16.3 million were charged to
the profit and loss account during 2004. These consisted
of a £24.8 million credit related to the curtailment of
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certain pension liabilities and a £41.1 million exceptional
interest cost being the loss on the repurchase of the 91/2
per cent First Mortgage Debenture Stock 2014, which
was largely secured against the St. Katharine’s Estate.
This asset was sold in March 2004.
In 2004, synergy savings of £13.5 million were achieved
from the integration of the Wilson Connolly operations,
ahead of initial expectations.
Return on average capital employed is calculated as
operating profit pre goodwill amortisation and exceptional
items divided by the average of opening and closing
capital employed. Return on average capital employed,
pre goodwill and exceptional items, was 24.6 per cent
(2003: 24.7 per cent). The balance sheet remains strong,
with gearing at 34.1 per cent (2003: 47.1 per cent). Equity
shareholders’ funds increased by £163 million during
2004, to end the year at £1,637.8 million, representing
292.2 pence per share.

Average Capital Employed *
Operating Profit **
Return on Average
Capital Employed
Operating Margin **
Home Completions

£m
£m
%
%

2004
1,810.1
448.8

2003
1,373.4
356.4

24.8
15.6
13,092

26.0
15.9
10,819

* pre average goodwill of £349.8 million (2003: £266.9 million)
** pre goodwill amortisation of £20.4 million (2003: £15.0 million) and
exceptional items of £12.5 million profit (2003: £20.0 million loss)

The housing businesses located in the United Kingdom,
North America, Spain and Gibraltar all performed well
during 2004. Worldwide housing completions rose
21 per cent to 13,092 (2003: 10,819) with operating
profits, pre goodwill amortisation and exceptional
items, increasing 26 per cent to £448.8 million, (2003:
£356.4 million).
UK housing
Average Capital Employed * £m
Operating Profit **
£m
Return on Average
Capital Employed
%
Operating Margin **
%
Home Completions

2004
1,445.7
301.1

2003
1,009.7
246.0

20.8
15.6
9,053

24.4
16.6
7,690

The UK housing business, which accounts for 64 per cent
of Group operating profit, performed well in 2004. This
was in the context of substantial changes occasioned by
the integration of Wilson Connolly. The integration process
was successful, meeting all its milestones and objectives
within planned costs.
The UK housing market slowed considerably from May
2004. Purchaser confidence was significantly eroded by
successive interest rate rises and continued speculation
of a house price crash. House price inflation was minimal
in the second half of the year. Although local house price
falls were the exception, it was necessary to assist
purchases in a slower market through increased use of
part exchange and other incentives.
At the year end the UK housing land bank consisted of
32,459 owned or controlled plots with outline planning
permission, representing some 3.6 years’ supply, based
on 2004 home completions. In addition to this, there is a
strategic land portfolio which should give rise to around
84,000 potential plots.
The land bank contained approximately 32 per cent of
greenfield sites and 68 per cent brownfield sites.
At the end of the year the UK housing business had a
forward order book of £407 million.

* pre average goodwill of £344.1 million (2003: £260.2 million)
** pre goodwill amortisation of £20.0 million (2003: £14.5 million) and
exceptional items of £11.6 million profit (2003: £20.0 million loss)

Taylor Woodrow Report and Accounts 2004 23

Operational and Financial Review continued
North American home and lot completions
2004

5,958
5,726

2003
2002

Greenfield

36% and 3,264 completions

Brownfield

64% and 5,789 completions

4,563

2001
2000

UK home completions

3,874
2,715

North America housing
Average Capital Employed*
Operating Profit**
Return on Average Capital
Employed
Operating Margin**
Home Completions

£m
£m
%
%

2004
325.9
127.6

2003
332.9
90.1

39.2
14.8
3,635

27.1
13.1
2,786

* pre average goodwill of £5.7 million (2003: £6.7 million)
** pre goodwill amortisation of £0.4 million (2003: £0.5 million) and exceptional
profit of £0.9 million (2003: £nil)

Total completions, including lot sales, for North American
operations increased to 5,958 (2003: 5,726). Within this,
home completions increased to 3,635 (2003: 2,786).
North American housing operating profit, pre goodwill
amortisation and exceptional items, increased by 58 per
cent to US$233.5 million (2003: US$147.8 million). In
sterling terms, operating profits, pre goodwill amortisation
and exceptional items, rose 42 per cent to £127.6 million
(2003: £90.1 million). Return on capital employed
increased to 39.2 per cent (2003: 27.1 per cent).
In Canada, operating as Monarch, we enjoyed another
year of strong performance. Home completions increased
to 1,498 (2003:1,157) at an average selling price of
Can$302,000 (2003: Can$302,000).
Operations in Florida enjoyed strong sales in all markets.
The company achieved a 46 per cent increase in the
number of owned and controlled lots to 7,632 (2003:
5,213) in anticipation of future growth. Florida achieved
505 home completions in 2004 (2003: 384), up 32 per
cent. Average selling prices rose 10 per cent to
US$544,000 (2003: US$494,000).
The California business also capitalised on strong
trading conditions, delivering excellent results. Home
completions rose to 697 (2003: 497) while average
selling prices across California fell slightly to US$776,000
(2003: US$786,000), reflecting the relative growth of the
middle market operations in northern California. At the
end of the year, the California land bank stood at 2,450
lots (2003: 2,379) representing 2.6 years’ supply.
The Texas division acquired several new sites during
the year and achieved 94 home completions (2003: 59)
to complement the 274 lot completions (2003: 247).
Average home selling prices were US$440,000
(2003: US$452,000).
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The Arizona business continues to exceed expectations
and successfully expanded its home offerings to the
middle market during 2004. The division delivered 841
home completions (2003: 689) at an average selling
price of US$183,000 (2003: US$132,000), as a result of
this repositioning away from the starter home market.
Lot completions fell to 923 (2003: 1,937) as a result of the
plan to deliver increased home completions in the future.
The total North American land bank, at the year end,
comprised 30,009 lots (2003: 25,758), in line with
management’s goal of 5.0 years inventory. The plan to
increase the proportion of controlled, but not owned,
land was a success as 52 per cent (2003: 50 per cent)
of the land bank now falls into this category. This allows
us to meet growth targets while managing our
capital efficiently.
Going into 2005, the order book for North America
was US$1,246 million, up 57 per cent compared to the
same point in 2004.
Spain and Gibraltar housing
Average Capital Employed
Operating Profit
Return on Average Capital
Employed
Operating Margin
Home Completions

£m
£m
%
%

2004
38.5
20.1

2003
30.8
20.3

52.2
26.3
404

65.9
30.8
343

Taylor Woodrow remains principally active in Majorca,
Costa Blanca and the Costa del Sol.
Operating profit of £20.1 million was achieved (2003:
£20.3 million), with an operating margin of 26.3 per cent
and return on average capital employed of 52.2 per cent.
The order book for Spain and Gibraltar at the end of
2004 was £75 million, with a land bank of 1,233 units
(2003: 1,409 units).
Commercial property
Average Capital Employed
Operating Profit/(Loss)
Return on Average Capital
Employed
Operating Margin

£m
£m

2004
138.6
9.0

2003
112.1
(1.4)

%
%

6.5
13.2

(1.2)
(3.0)
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Operational and Financial Review continued
The company strategy with respect to commercial
property is to retain development and commercial skills
within the Group to support mixed use developments.
Commercial property activity will therefore only be
carried out where it is ancillary to mainstream house
building activities. During the year, 12 properties were
sold, resulting in an operating profit of £9.0 million against
a loss of £1.4 million in 2003. Average capital employed
rose due to work in progress on the K2 project. This
property was pre-sold for £117 million in March 2004 and
its disposal will be completed in the first half of 2005.
Investment property
Average Capital Employed
Operating Profit
Return on Average Capital
Employed
Operating Margin

The dividend is covered 4.2 times by earnings.
Equity shareholders’ funds per share (pence)
2004

£m
£m

2004
71.3
2.9

2003
143.3
9.6

2003
2002
2001

%
%

4.1
46.8

6.7
55.2

Two remaining investment properties were sold in
2004, completing the disposal of this portfolio. The
St. Katharine’s estate was sold in March 2004 for
£166 million, and Nelson Gate in Southampton achieved
sales proceeds of £17 million. Combined profits on the
sale of these assets were £14.8 million.
At the end of 2004, no capital was employed in
investment property.
Construction
Profit Before Tax

Shareholders’ returns
Adjusted earnings per share increased by 25 per cent to
48.2 pence. The proposed final dividend of 8.1 pence
produces a total return of 11.1 pence per ordinary share, an
increase of 25 per cent over last year. This level of dividend
is consistent with the Board’s policy of paying progressive
dividends through the business cycle.

£m

2004
34.6

2003
19.4

Construction profit before tax was £34.6 million. This
includes a £12.3 million exceptional profit, being the share
of the Group pension curtailment provision release
attributable to that business.
The core business focus for construction remains
unchanged. During the year the PFI team was named as
preferred bidder for the St. Helens PFI Hospital. Financial
close of this contract is expected in 2005.
The construction order book, including internal work,
was £815 million at the end of 2004, up 4 per cent –
a significant increase from the £673 million reported
in 2002.
Shareholders’ funds
Shareholders’ funds at the end of 2004 were £1,637.8
million, up from £1,575.9 million at the end of 2003.
Retained profit for the year of £201.5 million was offset by
the redemption of £100 million preference shares issued
at the time of the Wilson Connolly acquisition, and the
re-purchase of £50 million of ordinary shares completing
a commitment made at the time of the Bryant acquisition.

2000

292.2p
256.2p
255.6p
246.3p
232.5p

Cash flow
Cash flow from operating activities increased by 62 per
cent to £400.4 million.
Operating profit of £474.5 million was offset by increased
stocks of £54 million, primarily in North America and a
reduction in creditors of £79.0 million, consisting primarily
of UK land creditors. Against this, debtors decreased by
£26.1 million.
Net interest payments increased by £66.3 million,
primarily due to the £41.1 million exceptional redemption
premium on the First Mortgage Debenture stock 2014.
Increased levels of debt following the Wilson Connolly
acquisition, account for the rest of the increase.
Fixed asset and investment property sales generated
cash inflows of £189.9 million, primarily resulting from the
sale of the St. Katharine’s Estate.
Net cash outflow from financing reflects reductions in
share capital and debt reductions.
Share buyback
The company bought back 8,969,104 shares into treasury
in the Spring of 2004 and a further 10,404,778 shares in
the Autumn, equivalent to 3.3 per cent of the issued share
capital on 1 January 2004, at an aggregate cost of £50.3
million including stamp duty and dealing costs of £0.3
million. The buy back of these shares fulfilled the
company’s stated intention to purchase the second
tranche of the £50 million worth of shares announced at
the time of the acquisition of Bryant Group plc.
The effect of the buyback was an immediate increase
in shareholders’ funds per share and an enhancement
in earnings per share in future years without
adversely affecting the ability of the Group to expand
its core activities.

Equity shareholders’ funds per ordinary share rose to
292.2 pence at the end of 2004. This represents an
increase of 14 per cent from the previous year.
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Operational and Financial Review continued
Treasury Management and Funding
The Group operates within policies and procedures
approved by the Board. A Group capitalisation policy was
implemented in 2003. This established overall parameters
for the consolidated capital structure together with
guidelines in respect of interest and currency translation
exposures. The Group seeks to match long-term assets
with long-term funding and short-term assets with shortterm funding. Strict controls are exercised on the use of
financial instruments in managing the Group’s financial
risk. The objectives are to ensure sufficient liquidity is
maintained to meet foreseeable needs and to invest cash
assets safely and profitably. The Group does not
undertake speculative or trading activity in financial
instruments or foreign currencies.
The Group maintains a balance between certainty and
flexibility through the use of term borrowings, overdrafts
and committed revolving credit facilities with a range
of maturity dates. It is the Group’s policy to maintain
committed facilities with staggered maturity dates
in order to ensure continuity of funding.
Treasury functions are centralised in our main geographic
locations. All treasury operations must remain in
compliance with Group policy and are closely monitored
by the Group treasury department.
Equity, retained profits and long-term fixed interest
debt are primarily used to finance goodwill, fixed
assets and land. Short-term borrowings are primarily
required to finance net current assets, other than land
bank assets of more than one year, and commercial
developments and are therefore kept at a floating rate.
Where possible, temporary cash balances made
available by our construction business are used to
reduce our short-term borrowing facilities. The Group
also uses derivatives to manage interest rate exposure
if economically appropriate.
A significant proportion of the Group’s capital employed
is in currencies other than sterling with the result that
currency movements can affect the balance sheet.
Where appropriate, foreign currency translation exposure
is reduced by financing overseas assets with borrowings
of the same currency.
Net debt at the year end stood at £557.7 million (2003:
£742.9 million) equivalent to net gearing of 34.1 per cent
(2003 as restated: 47.1 per cent). Net interest cost, pre
exceptional items, for the year was £66.3 million (2003,
as restated: £46.4 million).

successfully issued a 15 year £200 million eurobond,
a 10 year US private placement for US$175 million and
a 7 year US private placement for US$75 million. These
issues were rated BBB+ by Fitch. The proceeds were
mainly used to refinance short-term borrowings under
the acquisition facility and provide a longer term
committed source of funds.
Taxation
The effective tax rate in 2004 of 32 per cent is above the
standard UK corporation tax rate. This is attributable to the
amortisation of goodwill and fair value adjustments and
the blend of trading profits from countries with tax rates
higher than the UK.
Pensions
FRS 17 ‘Retirement Benefits’ was implemented during
the year and the Financial Statements have been prepared
on that basis. During the period we agreed amendments
to the company’s pension arrangements to mitigate
current and future exposures. One consequence of this
has been a £24.8 million exceptional profit arising from
the reduction of future pension accruals. Broadly speaking,
as a result of additional money purchase arrangements,
overall targeted benefits have been kept at similar levels
for members of the pension schemes concerned.
As described in Note 23 to the accounts, the Group has
adopted FRS 17 ‘Retirement Benefits’ in full for the year
to 31 December 2004 and comparative figures for 2003
have been restated accordingly.
This change in accounting policy, which would have been
mandatory in 2005, has had two material effects on the
company’s financial results. First, a prior year adjustment
reduced net assets by £117.6 million as at 31 December
2003. Second, as a result of changes limiting future
benefit accrual for members of defined benefit schemes,
an exceptional non-cash profit of £24.8 million arose from
a ‘curtailment’ release of pension fund liabilities.
At 31 December 2004, the net FRS 17 deficit had reduced
to £98.9 million (2003: £127.3 million).
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
Commencing with the 2005 interim statements, the
company will report its financial results in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).
Preparations for this have been underway throughout
2004. It is the company’s intention to provide the market
with an audited opening IFRS Balance Sheet at 1 January
2004, and a restated profit and loss account and Balance
Sheet for 2004.

Average net debt for the year was £948 million.
At the year end Taylor Woodrow had undrawn committed
facilities totalling £800.0 million.
In April the £100 million 91/2 per cent First Mortgage
Debenture Stock 2014 which was secured principally
on the St. Katharine’s Estate was repaid following
disposal of that asset. In May and June the company
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Corporate Social Responsibility

FACT:

4,460
MAN DAYS OF HEALTH,
SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENTAL
TRAINING UNDERTAKEN
IN 2004.

We recognise that the various elements of Corporate Social
Responsibility (CSR) are of increasing importance to our
stakeholders and fundamental to the achievement of our
business objectives.

How we do things
We integrate Corporate Social Responsibility into the
way that we do business. We are guided by policies
which address all material CSR issues, and these
continue to evolve.
CSR issues that are material to Taylor Woodrow’s
business are:
• sustainable development
long-term impacts of the communities that we help
to develop, including energy efficiency of dwellings,
transport, social inclusion, redevelopment of
brownfield land and local economic benefits
• health and safety
• environmental impacts
• employee benefits, training, satisfaction and ethics
• relationships with customers
• relationships with suppliers and partners
• community involvement
• engagement with investors and other groups
At senior management level, strategic and business
risks, including those relating to CSR, are regularly
reviewed at Board meetings and by the line management
system. CSR risks are assessed at project inception and
then considered in more detail during the development
and implementation of project execution plans. Internal
audits are conducted on compliance with risk
management processes and other internal controls.
We operate a health and safety management system
across the business worldwide that is recognised as
an exemplar in our sector. In the past year we have
placed particular emphasis on developing our processes
for occupational health management. We also operate
environmental management systems across the
business. Our UK construction business is certificated
to the environmental management standard BS EN
ISO14001:1996.
The skills and experience of our team members are
fundamental to the success of the business. We value
diversity. Equality of opportunity is an integral principle
and individuals can seek, obtain and continue
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employment without experiencing discrimination on
grounds such as gender, age, marital status, ethnic
background, disability or religious belief.
We operate an employee development review process,
which provides an opportunity for all team members to
work with their line manager to plan their development
for the coming year. This may include formal training,
gaining experience in new areas, and/or mentoring.
Performance reviews are also conducted annually. These
provide the opportunity to identify specific objectives for
each team member, to review progress against previous
objectives and assess overall performance.
We provide a wide range of benefits to team members,
including pension provision, permanent health insurance,
access to private healthcare and share option and share
purchase plans.
Our management approach encourages continual
improvement. Our improvement group process is an
off-line and innovative activity, which supports and
augments normal line management and functional
responsibilities. Its primary objectives are:
• to spread best practice
• to develop suggestions and proposals for new and
improved processes, objectives, products etc.
The senior group within the improvement group process
includes members of the Executive Committee and is
chaired by the chief executive. The senior group develops
strategy on CSR matters and sets high-level objectives.
Our team members receive regular communications on
CSR issues via a number of media, including weekly
electronic newsletters, quarterly magazines, technical
bulletins, notices by email and management briefings.
Performance measurement has been a particular focus
for the business in the past three years. We have
developed a range of CSR indicators, initially focusing on
health and safety, environment and community issues.
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Corporate Social Responsibility continued
How we are performing

Plasterboard segregation for recycling
UK residential
1600
1400

We are one of the leading developers in the
implementation of EcoHomes, the environmental
assessment method for housebuilding and
refurbishment. During the year we completed 126 units
certificated to EcoHomes ‘Good’ standard. We have a
number of other ongoing projects targeting EcoHomes
standards of either ‘Very Good’ or ‘Excellent’. One of
these, Stamford Brook in Altrincham, is incorporating a
research project that will be investigating a number of
sustainability issues, with a particular focus on improving
the energy efficiency of new homes.
Taylor Woodrow has taken the positive approach of
including affordable housing in the vast majority of its
current and future schemes, thereby creating mixed and
balanced communities. Our strategy is to work with local
authorities in identifying the most appropriate type of
dwelling mix and a range of affordability levels, and
creating quality homes that will receive Government
financial support in the form of Social Housing Grants.
Every year, Taylor Woodrow invests in infrastructure and
services which provide benefits to communities. Whilst
typically tied in to the planning process, these
contributions provide enormous value to communities
and would not occur without the association with the
development process.
Health and Safety
Setting us apart from our peers in the management of
health and safety is the extent and depth of our active
measurement programme. This differs from the
traditional approach of reactive monitoring (recording
accidents and incidents) which only measures things that
have gone wrong. The active monitoring programme we
employ provides information on the effectiveness of our
systems and can identify potential weaknesses before
they result in accidents.
Our achievements in health and safety management
have been recognised by the Movement for Innovation
(M4i), in selecting Taylor Woodrow as a demonstration
organisation for health and safety, and through several
prestigious industry-wide awards. However, in regard to
health and safety, management can never be over
vigilant. Regrettably, one tragic incident in 2004 resulted
in a fatality. In 2005 we will continue to focus our efforts
on improving health and safety.
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Our active measurement of health and safety
performance, driven by clear commitment from senior
management and supported by extensive health and
safety training programmes, is delivering improvement in
health and safety management.
In 2004, the UK business successfully achieved its overall
goal for health and safety performance as measured
against a benchmark Safety Index score. The Safety
Index score incorporated challenging targets for both
management performance (planning) and actual
performance (through inspection programmes). We have
also been able to demonstrate a healthy downward trend
in accident frequency over several years.
The efforts of our business in Spain to manage health and
safety have been recognised through certification to the
Occupational Health and Safety Standard, 18001.
Environment
Taylor Woodrow has for many years had an excellent
record on pollution prevention. We achieve good
environmental management on our project sites through
the implementation of project environmental plans and
through training of our team members.
Improvement in waste management practices in our
UK housebuilding operations brought a reduction in
waste disposal costs and an increase in volumes
recycled. In 2004 we were able to reduce waste disposal
costs by 20 per cent compared with 2003. Segregation
of waste plasterboard for recycling has been rolled out
across the whole of the UK homebuilding business.
In 2004 we returned approximately 4,831 tonnes of
waste plasterboard to the manufacturer for recycling
(2003: 1,929). See chart opposite.
Community
One of our CSR priorities is to minimise the effects on
neighbours of our development activities. Good
communication with neighbours is particularly important
and we often make use of project newsletters to support
this. In 2004 we expanded our participation in the
Considerate Constructors scheme with 27 project sites
registered at the end of 2004 (2003: 10).
In November 2004, Taylor Woodrow announced its
‘Building Futures’ partnership with the children’s charity,
Barnardo’s. The aim of the partnership is to help fund
skills and training programmes for disadvantaged
young people, particularly programmes that enable us
to address the growing skills shortage in the building
and construction industry. The company has kick started
the partnership with a £40,000 donation and over the
coming year team members, customers and suppliers
will be invited to get involved with fundraising for this
very worthy cause.
During the year team members in the UK raised over
£65,000 for charitable causes and the company
contributed a further £30,000 to this.
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Sustainable Development
Sustainability is one of the central themes for the
development industry. We believe that construction of
new, high quality homes is an important factor in
improving quality of life. Urban regeneration is a particular
feature of our business, in which we contribute to
sustainability by bringing otherwise redundant land back
into use, and cleaning up contaminated sites. Through
this, we raise the overall quality of local environments
and breathe economic life back into communities. In
2004, 64 per cent of the homes built by Taylor Woodrow
in the UK were constructed on brownfield (previously
developed) land (2003: 62 per cent, 2002: 57 per cent).
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Suppliers, Partners and Customers
We implement our CSR principles by working with carefully
selected supply chain partners (designers, contractors,
specialist manufacturers) who share our approach of
meeting and exceeding customer requirements through
collaborative working. By working in integrated supply
chains we have been able to improve considerably the
efficiency of project delivery on major construction projects,
benefiting both our customers and our suppliers.
We are committed to a process of continual improvement
in meeting the requirements and expectations of our
customers. We measure our progress through customer
satisfaction and, during 2004, the UK homebuilding
business achieved an improved overall satisfaction rating
of 70 per cent. Our North American business achieved 86
per cent on their customer satisfaction index, in line with
previous years’ performance and, at 88 per cent, our
construction teams’ ‘Customer Heartbeat’ programme
continued its trend of year on year improvement.
Our team
In 2003/2004 we set ourselves the goal of improving
employee satisfaction. Following benchmarking surveys
in February and November 2003, action plans were put
in place to address issues of concern. An independent
survey carried out in November 2004 showed a 14 per
cent improvement in the UK, with a satisfaction index of
73.5 per cent. Our North American team achieved 89.5 per
cent satisfaction index, up from an 80.5 per cent in 2003.

In support of our Ethics Policy we have introduced
‘Safecall’, an independent and confidential hotline, for
team members to raise issues of unethical behaviour,
fraud and other concerns. The service went live in the UK
in April and in the USA in June. 17 reports were received
and in most cases investigations have already been
completed and appropriate action taken when necessary.
Engagement with investors and other groups
We have continued to engage positively with investor
organisations on CSR issues.
Our progress in developing and integrating CSR into the
business was recognised in 2004 by Taylor Woodrow’s
inclusion for the first time in the FTSE4 Good Index and
by our continuation as a constituent in the Dow Jones
Sustainability Indexes.
The future
Effectively integrated, CSR has the potential to contribute
meaningfully to advancing the business. The immediate
priorities for 2005 will build on those for 2004, with an
emphasis on health, safety and environmental issues, a
focus on sustainability and further development of
community programmes.
Further details of Taylor Woodrow’s CSR performance
can be found in our full CSR report which is available
on our website, http://www.taylorwoodrow.com/csr2004

Summary of performance against CSR objectives for 2004
1. Improve health and safety performance as measured
by site inspections and management audits

Achieved

2. Improve environmental performance:
(a) To reduce waste during construction
(b) To raise environmental awareness of our site managers

Achieved
Largely achieved

3. Involvement with the community
(a) Develop corporate community programme
(b) To increase participation in Considerate Constructors Scheme

Additional schemes will
commence in 2005
Increased from 10 to 27 projects

4. To formalise Occupational Health Management

Achieved

5. To improve our understanding of EcoHomes and its commercial implications

Achieved
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Board of Directors

Norman Askew
Chairman
Non-Executive Director
Appointed a director and Chairman
in July 2003. He chairs the
Nomination Committee and is a
member of the Remuneration
Committee. His current
appointments include the
Chairmanship of Kidde plc, Derby
Cityscape and Chairman of the
Board of Governors of the
University of Manchester.
Age: 62

Iain Napier
Chief Executive
Appointed a director in January
2002. He chairs the Executive
Committee and is a member of the
Nomination Committee. He is
non-executive director and joint Vice
Chairman of Imperial Tobacco Group
plc. Formerly chief executive of Bass
Brewers, a director of Bass plc,
non-executive director of BOC
Group plc and a member of the
Executive Management Committee
of Interbrew SA.
Age: 55

Lady Robin Innes Ker
Independent Non-Executive
Director
Appointed a director in July 2001.
Lady Innes Ker is Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee and a
member of the Nomination
Committee. Previously a nonexecutive director of Bryant Group
plc, her other directorships include
Fibernet Group plc, The Television
Corporation plc and Williams Lea
Group Limited.
Age: 44
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Peter Johnson
Finance Director
Appointed a director in November
2002. He is a member of the
Executive Committee. He is an
experienced financial executive with
a strong background in financial
services and property investment,
conducting business both in the UK
and North America. He has held
senior positions with Henderson
plc, Pearl Assurance, Norwich Union
Life and Bioglan Pharma plc.
He also worked for the Hammerson
Property Investment and
Development Corporation plc.
Age: 50

Andrew Dougal
Independent Non-Executive
Director
Appointed a director in November
2002. A Chartered Accountant, he is
Chairman of the Audit Committee
and a member of the Nomination
Committee. He spent sixteen years
with Hanson, with eleven years in a
number of senior management
positions in the former diversified
industrial group, including Finance
Director from 1995 to 1997.
Following completion of the Hanson
demerger process, he was chief
executive of the ongoing Hanson
plc, the international building
materials company, from 1997 to
2002. He is a non-executive
Director of BPB plc.
Age: 53

Denis Mac Daid
Executive Director
Appointed a director in July 2001.
He is a member of the Executive
Committee and non-executive
Chairman of Taylor Woodrow
Construction Limited. He has wide
experience of the industry, gained
during a 39 year career with Taylor
Woodrow. Previously Managing
Director of Taylor Woodrow
Construction Limited, chief
executive of Bryant Homes Limited
and Operations Director (South)
of Taylor Woodrow Developments
Limited, he retires from the
company and the Board on
30 June 2005.
Age: 60

Graeme McCallum
Executive Director
Appointed a Director in October
2003. He is a member of the
Executive Committee and an
Operations Director of Taylor
Woodrow Developments Limited.
He was previously chief executive
of Wilson Connolly Holdings plc.
He is a non-executive Director of
National House Building Council and
has had over 26 years’ experience in
the housebuilding industry.
Age: 58

Mike Davies
Independent Non-Executive
Director,
Senior Independent Director
Appointed a director in October
2003. He is the Senior Independent
Director and a member of the Audit,
Remuneration and Nomination
Committees. He is non-executive
Chairman of Marshalls plc and nonexecutive director of Pendragon plc.
He is also Chairman of Vi-Spring
Limited and non-executive director
of Baxi Group Limited. He was
formerly a director of Williams
Holdings plc and also held senior
positions with British Aluminium
and then British Alcan Aluminium.
Age: 57

Vernon Sankey
Independent Non-Executive
Director
Appointed a director in January
2004. He is a member of the Audit,
Remuneration and Nomination
Committees. He is also a nonexecutive Director of Pearson plc
and of Zurich Financial Services
AG (Swiss). He is Chairman of
Photo-Me International plc, a
Supervisory Board Member of
Cofra Holding AG (Swiss) and
Chairman of The Really Effective
Development Company Limited.
Age: 55
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Report of the Directors
to the members for the year ended 31 December 2004

Report of the Directors continued

Review of activities and future developments
A detailed review of the company’s activities, the
development of its businesses, and an indication of
likely future developments, are contained in the
reports and reviews on pages 3 to 33.

Corporate Social Responsibility
Taylor Woodrow places great emphasis on its role as a
good corporate citizen. A summary of the company’s
policies and practices on corporate social responsibility
appears on pages 30 to 33. The full Corporate Social
Responsibility Report 2004 is available at
http://www.taylorwoodrow.com/csr2004

The subsidiary and associated undertakings principally
affecting the profits or net assets of the Group in the
year are listed on page 79.
Results and dividends
The Group’s profit on ordinary activities before
taxation was £390.4 million. The profit after taxation
and minority interests was £264.8 million.
The directors recommend a final dividend of 8.1
pence per share (2003: 6.5 pence), which subject to
approval at the Annual General Meeting, will be paid
on 1 July 2005 to those shareholders on the register
on 3 June 2005. This, together with the interim
dividend of 3.0 pence per share (2003: 2.4 pence) paid
on 1 November 2004, makes a total of 11.1 pence for
the year (2003: 8.9 pence). The company operates
a Dividend Re-investment Plan, details of which are
set out in full in the Annual General Meeting circular.
Directors
The directors of the company at the date of this report
are shown on pages 34 and 35. Vernon Sankey was
appointed as non-executive director on 1 January
2004 and Sir George Russell retired from the Board
on 19 April 2004. Mike Davies continues to act as the
Senior Independent Director.
Retirement and re-election of directors
Iain Napier, Peter Johnson and Andrew Dougal will
retire by rotation at the Annual General Meeting.
All these directors, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-election in accordance with the company’s
Articles of Association.
Auditors
Deloitte & Touche LLP have confirmed their
willingness to continue in office as auditors of the
company and a resolution to re-appoint them will be
proposed at the Annual General Meeting.
Deloitte & Touche LLP also provide non-audit services
to the group within a policy framework which is
described in Corporate Governance on page 42.
Annual General Meeting
The Annual General Meeting will be held at 2pm on
Tuesday 26 April 2005 at The Renewal Conference
Centre, Lode Lane, Solihull, West Midlands, B91 2JR.
Formal notice and details of the meeting are set out in
the Annual General Meeting circular.
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Resolutions will be proposed as Special Business:
• to vary certain terms of the Performance Share Plan;
• to facilitate the introduction of the Employee Stock
Purchase Plan into the USA;
• to renew existing authorities for the issue and
buyback of the company’s ordinary shares, and
• to delete certain clauses from the company’s
Articles of Association.
Registrar
The company’s registrar is Capita Registrars.
Their details, together with information on facilities
available to shareholders, are set out in Shareholder
Information in the Annual General Meeting circular.
Purchase of own shares
Between 22 April 2004 and 21 December 2004,
the company made market purchases of a total of
19,373,882 of its own shares with an aggregate
market value of £50.3 million including dealing costs
of £0.3 million. Full details of these purchases can be
found in the Operational and Financial Review on page
27 and in Note 30 to the Financial Statements.
Substantial interests
Details of the share capital are shown in Note 24 to
the Financial Statements. The following persons have
notified the company of their interests in the ordinary
share capital under sections 198 to 208 of the
Companies Act 1985:
Name

Beneficial interests
Barclays plc

Number of
shares held
(millions)

Percentage
of issued
share capital

22.49

3.83

Aviva plc and Morley
Fund Management Limited

18.74

3.20

Britannic Asset Management
Limited

16.95

3.06

Legal and General Group plc

17.82

3.045

Morgan Stanley Securities
Limited

23.56

4.014

Non-beneficial interest
AXA SA

81.90

14.396

At 1 March 2005, no change in these holdings had
been notified nor, according to the register of
members, did any other shareholder at that date
have a disclosable holding of the issued share capital.

Charitable donations
During the year Group companies donated £296,000
(2003: £189,000) to various charities, £113,000 (2003:
£98,000) in the UK and Europe and £183,000 (2003:
£91,000) in North America. An outline of the Group’s
programme of charitable giving appears in Corporate
Social Responsibility on pages 30 to 33 and further
details can be found in the on-line full CSR report.
Research and development
The company is committed to investing in research
and development projects where there are clearly
defined business benefits.
Political donations
The company did not make any donations to political
parties during 2004 (2003: £nil). Subscriptions totalling
£158,000 (2003: £170,000) were paid to the House
Builders’ Federation, the Major Housebuilders’ Group
and the Scottish House Builders’ Federation, which
are active in supporting the interests of the
housebuilding sector. Some may consider that these
payments may fall within the meaning of ‘EU Political
Expenditure’ as defined by Part XA of the Companies
Act 1985 (as amended by the Political Parties,
Elections and Referendums Act 2000). Shareholders
consented to such donations being made at the 2002
Annual General Meeting.

Corporate governance
Detailed statements of the company’s corporate
governance principles and the Group’s systems of
internal control are set out in Corporate Governance
on pages 38 to 42.
Important events since the year end
Except for any matters referred to elsewhere in
this Report and Accounts, there have been no other
important events affecting the company or any of
its subsidiary undertakings since the end of the
financial year.
This report of the directors was approved by the Board
of directors on 1 March 2005.

Richard I Morbey
Secretary
1 March 2005

Policy on payment of suppliers
The nature of the Group’s operations means that
there is no single Group standard in respect of
payment terms to suppliers. Generally, subsidiaries
are responsible for establishing payment terms with
suppliers when entering into each transaction or
series of linked transactions. In the absence of
dispute, valid payment requests are met as
expeditiously as possible within such terms. This
policy continues to apply in 2005. Trade creditor days
for the Group for the year ended 31 December 2004
were 39 days, (2003: 46 days) based on the ratio of
year end group trade creditors (excluding subcontract
retentions and unagreed claims of £13.2 million (2003:
£11.3 million) and land creditors, see Note 18 to the
Financial Statements) to amounts invoiced during the
year by trade creditors. The company had no
significant trade creditors at 31 December 2004.
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Corporate Governance Statement
The company is committed to the principles of
corporate governance contained in the July 2003 FRC
Combined Code on Corporate Governance which is
appended to the Listing Rules of the Financial
Services Authority (‘the Code’) and for which the
Board is accountable to shareholders.
Statement of compliance with the Code of
Best Practice
Throughout the year ended 31 December 2004,
the company has been in compliance with the Code
provisions set out in section 1 of the Code except for
the following matters:
• Following a review of the existing terms of reference
of the Board’s Nomination, Remuneration and Audit
Committees, updated editions were published on
the company’s website during the second half of the
year (Code Provisions A.4.1, B.2.1 and C.3.3); and
• For part of the year the chief executive, Iain Napier,
held non-executive directorships in more than one
FTSE 100 company. He is presently Joint Vice
Chairman and non-executive director of Imperial
Tobacco Group plc. He was a non-executive director
of The BOC Group plc from 1 May 2004 but to meet
the requirements of good Corporate Governance, he
relinquished this position on 22 December 2004
(Code Provision A.4.5).
Statement about applying the Principles of
Good Governance
The company has applied the Principles of Good
Governance set out in section 1 of the Code,
including both the Main Principles and the Supporting
Principles, by complying with the Code as reported
above. Further explanation of how the Main Principles
and Supporting Principles have been applied is set out
below and, in connection with directors’ remuneration,
in the Directors’ Remuneration Report. The
Chairman’s Statement, the Chief Executive’s Review,
the Company Review and the Operational and
Financial Review present a balanced and
understandable assessment of the company’s
position and prospects.
The Board
The Board consists of nine directors whose names,
responsibilities and other details appear on pages 34
and 35. Four of the directors are executive and five
are non-executive.
The Board discharges its responsibilities by providing
entrepreneurial leadership of the company within a
framework of prudent and effective controls, which
enables risk to be assessed and managed. It sets the
company’s strategic aims, ensures that the necessary
financial and human resources are in place for the
company to meet its objectives and reviews
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management performance. It also defines the
company’s values and standards and ensures that
its obligations to its shareholders and others are
understood and met.
The Board has adopted a schedule of matters which
are specifically reserved to its decision which were
published during 2004. It has also adopted a framework
of delegated commercial and operational authorities,
which define the scope of the chief executive’s
powers and those of subsidiary management.
All directors have access to the advice and services of
the company secretary and the Board has established
a procedure whereby directors may take independent
professional advice at the company’s expense where
they judge it necessary to discharge their responsibilities
as directors.
The Company’s Articles of Association currently
permit a director to appoint any other person to act
as his alternate director. No such appointments
have been made since the adoption of these Articles,
and in accordance with good Corporate Governance
principles, the company is seeking shareholders’
approval at the 2005 Annual General Meeting for
the deletion of this Article.
Board effectiveness
The directors possess an appropriate balance of skills
and experience for the requirements of the business.
Typically nine meetings of the full Board are held each
year. In addition, the directors attend a strategic
planning awayday. The members of the Board and its
committees, together with their attendances at the
core meetings during 2004 are shown opposite.
In addition, ad hoc meetings of the Board and its
committees were held to deal with administrative
and similar matters.

Corporate Governance Statement continued
Board

Nomination
Committee

Remuneration
Committee

Audit
Committee

No. of meetings held in the year

10

2

5

6

Norman Askew

10
Chairman

2
Chairman

3

6
(By invitation)

Mike Davies (Senior Independent Director) 10

2

3

6

Lady Robin Innes Ker

10

2

5
5
Chairman from (By invitation)
26 February
2004

Andrew Dougal

9

2

3
(By invitation)

6
Chairman

Vernon Sankey *

6

1

2

2

Iain Napier
Chief Executive

10

2

3
(By invitation)

6
(By invitation)

Peter Johnson
Finance Director

10

-

-

6
(By invitation)

Denis Mac Daid
Executive Director

10

-

-

3
(By invitation)

Graeme McCallum
Operations Director

10

-

-

1
(By invitation)

Sir George Russell
(retired 19 April 2004)

4

0

2
2
Chairman until
25 February
2004

* Vernon Sankey was appointed a director on 1 January 2004. Because of existing diary commitments at the date of his appointment, he
was not able to attend all Board meetings during the year. The Board is satisfied that he demonstrates total commitment to his duties both
within and beyond the formal framework of Board and committee meetings.
The Company Secretary is also secretary to the Board’s committees.

Chairman and chief executive
There is a clearly established division of responsibilities
between the chairman and chief executive, set out
in writing, agreed by the Board and implemented by
regular review meetings between these officers and
validated by the Board performance evaluation process.
Board balance and independence
Appointments to the Board are made on merit and
through a formal, rigorous and transparent process
against objective criteria recommended by the
Nomination Committee, which also guides the whole
Board in arranging orderly succession for appointments
to the Board and to senior management.
The appointment of non-executive directors is for a
specified term and re-appointment is not automatic.
The chairman is also chairman of Kidde plc, a FTSE
250 company. The Board is satisfied that this, and his
other commitments, do not detract from the extent
or the quality of the time which he is able to devote
to the company.

The Board has reviewed and re-affirmed that it
considers all of the non-executive directors, including
the chairman, to be independent in character and
judgement. Whenever any director considers that he
or she is interested in any contract or arrangement to
which the company is or may be a party, due notice is
given in accordance with the Articles of Association.
The Board has determined that any such interests as
may have arisen during 2004 are non-material to the
director or to the companies concerned.
In the three years up to and including the 2005 Annual
General Meeting, every director will have submitted
himself for re-election at least once.
The Nomination Committee and Board
appointments
The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee,
including its role and the authority delegated to it by
the Board, are available upon request and have been
published on the company’s website. These outline
the committee’s objectives and responsibilities and
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Corporate Governance Statement continued
define the programme of activities to support the
discharge of those responsibilities. The terms of
reference are reviewed at least annually.
The members of the nomination committee and their
attendance at meetings during 2004 are shown on
page 39.
A number of Board changes were made during 2003
and in January 2004, including the appointment of
non-executive directors, which were facilitated through
search consultants and implemented in accordance
with the Committee’s terms of reference. The work
of the Nomination Committee during 2004 has been
focused primarily on planning the succession for
the Board and the senior management team and the
reviewing of the balance of the Board’s composition.
Terms and conditions of appointment of all directors
are available for inspection as described in the 2005
Annual General Meeting circular to shareholders.
Information and professional development
The company has procedures whereby directors
(including non-executive directors) receive formal
induction, training and continuing familiarisation about
the company’s business, operations and systems, the
principles underlying the discharge of their duties as
directors and wider issues relating to the housing and
construction sector. Any training needs are identified
and implemented.
Board performance evaluation
During 2004 the directors undertook the annual
evaluation of the performance and effectiveness of
the Board, its committees, individual directors and
the internal and external auditors. The evaluation
was performed using a self-assessment framework.
Testing was focused mainly on the parameters of
the Code and the NAPF Corporate Governance Policy
but also contained a number of broader tests covering
commercial and operational issues. The assessment
addressed strategic, operational and organisational
criteria.
As part of the process of assuring Board
effectiveness, during the year, the non-executive
directors, led by the senior independent director,
met without the chairman present to appraise the
chairman’s performance. Additionally, the chairman
held meetings with the non-executive directors
without the executives present.
The Board reviewed the results of these assessments
in January 2005 and is satisfied with the evidence it
provided about the balance and effectiveness of the
Board and its committees and the effectiveness and
commitment of each director. The Board will use this
evidence in the setting of objectives and procedures
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for 2005 and will continually review its approach to the
evaluation process.
Remuneration
The Board’s policy and approach to the setting of
remuneration for directors and senior executives and
the activities of the Remuneration Committee are
described in the directors’ Remuneration Report on
page 44.
Executive Committee
The Executive Committee consists of all the executive
directors of the company and senior executives of
major group companies. The chief executive chairs
its meetings.
The committee directs, controls and reviews the
financial and operational performance of all Group
companies and divisions, and key issues relating to
human resources, communications and legal matters.
It defines and recommends to the Board forwardlooking business plans and budgets.
Within the delegated authorities framework,
the investment sub-committee reviews all major
investment proposals affecting the Group’s business.
Other Group committees
The Group has also established operational and other
committees to co-ordinate activities including risk
management, corporate social responsibility, including
health, safety and environmental matters.
Internal control
The Board has applied Principle C.2 of the Code by
establishing a continuous process for identifying,
evaluating and managing the significant risks the
Group faces. The Board regularly reviews the process,
which has been in place from the start of the year to
the date of approval of this report and which is in
accordance with Internal Control: Guidance for
directors on the Code published in September 1999.
The Board is responsible for the Group’s system of
internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness.
Such a system is designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement
or loss.
In compliance with provision C.2.1 of the Code,
the Board regularly reviews the effectiveness of
the Group’s system of internal control. The Board’s
monitoring covers all controls, including financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk
management. This process is based principally on
reviewing reports from management to consider
whether significant risks are identified, evaluated,
managed and controlled and whether any significant
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weaknesses are promptly remedied and indicate a
need for more extensive monitoring. The Board has
also performed a specific assessment for the purpose
of this annual report. This assessment considers all
significant aspects of internal control arising during the
period covered by the report including the work of
internal audit. The Audit Committee assists the Board
in discharging its review responsibilities. Key elements
of the system of internal control are detailed below.
A Group-level review is carried out by the members
of the Executive Committee to identify the major risks
facing the Group and to develop and implement
appropriate initiatives to manage those risks. This
process applies across the Group. Key operational
and financial risks are identified and assessed at the
operating process level, while strategic risks are
identified as a part of the business planning process.
Strategic risk reviews are carried out in each of the
operating divisions to identify business risk, evaluate
existing controls and develop strategies to manage
the risks that remain, the results of which form part of
the Board’s assessment. Updates to these risk
assessments are reported to the Executive
Committee on a quarterly basis. An executive risk
committee, chaired by the Group Finance Director,
reports to the Executive Committee with formally
agreed terms of reference, and has also met
throughout the year. This committee oversees the risk
and control framework of the group and monitors the
response to key risk issues identified through the
assessment process. Finally, as part of the chief
executive’s quarterly business performance reviews,
assessment is made of the progress against objectives,
changes to operational risk and adequacy of control.
The Chief Executive has responsibility for preparing
and reviewing a three-year corporate plan and the
annual budgets. These are subject to formal approval
by the Board. Budgets are re-examined in comparison
with business forecasts throughout the year to ensure
they are sufficiently robust to reflect the possible
impact of changing economic circumstances.The
chief executive and the Board conduct regular and
systematic reviews of actual results and future
projections with comparison against budget and prior
year, together with various treasury reports. Disputes
that may give rise to significant litigation or contractual
claims are monitored monthly.
The Group has clearly-defined policies, processes
and procedures governing all areas of the business
which are accessible using a web-enabled tool, that
also facilitates continuous improvement. An owner
is identified for each process, responsible for risk
assessment and process effectiveness. Operational
compliance responsibilities are also assigned to
individual managers who have access to compliance
testing and auditing software tools. For each process,
key operational controls have been identified and

these will be subject to regular self assessment
procedures from 2005 onwards. A full programme of
process compliance audits is also being implemented.
Defined authority limits are in place. In particular,
any investment in land, property and other significant
assets, including acquisitions and disposals require
detailed appraisals and are subject to defined
authorisation levels and post-investment review
procedures. Investment decisions, including Private
Finance Initiative (PFI) projects, and tenders for
contracts are subject to approval by the Board, the
chief executive or subsidiary operating management,
depending on the value and nature of the investment
or contract.
There is a clearly identifiable organisational structure
and a framework of delegated authority approved by
the Board within which individual responsibilities of
senior executives of Group companies are identified
and can be monitored.
The annual employee performance appraisal process
is objective-based, with individual objectives cascaded
down from the appropriate business objectives.
Development reviews identify training needs to
support achievement of objectives.
The Group business process review and audit
function reviews the effectiveness and efficiency of
the systems of internal control in place to safeguard
the assets, to quantify, price, transfer, avoid or
mitigate risks and to monitor the activities of the
Group in accomplishing established objectives.
Regular reports from these reviews are provided to
the Board and reported to the chief executive, Audit
Committee and management, who consider them
on a regular basis. The head of the Group’s business
process review and audit function has direct access
to the chairman of the Audit Committee.
Throughout the year the Board continually considers
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control
systems. On 20 January 2005 it completed the
annual assessment for the year to 31 December 2004
by reviewing evidence from the operating divisions,
the Group’s business process review and audit
department, and by taking account of events since
31 December 2004.
Whistleblowing
In January 2004 the Board adopted an updated
‘whistleblowing’ policy which is supported
by an externally-facilitated procedure through which
employees of the company may, in confidence, raise
concerns about possible improprieties in financial
reporting or other matters. The Audit Committee
receives reports on any occasions on which such
concerns are raised.
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Audit Committee and auditors
The terms of reference of the Audit Committee,
including its role and the authority delegated to it by
the Board, are available upon request and have been
published on the company’s website. These outline
the committee’s objectives and responsibilities and
define the programme of activities to support the
discharge of those responsibilities. The terms of
reference are reviewed at least annually.
The members of the Audit Committee are shown on
page 39. All members are independent non-executive
directors. The Board has determined that Andrew
Dougal, the committee chairman, who has a professional
qualification from one of the professional accounting
bodies, has recent and relevant financial experience.
The chairman of the company, the chief executive,
finance director, head of group business process
review and audit department, representatives of the
external auditors, and senior executives of major
Group companies attend meetings of the committee
by invitation.
The committee reviews the internal control framework,
the internal audit process, the financial reporting
practices and the external audit process and ensures
that the Board regularly assesses business risks and
their management and mitigation.
In monitoring the financial reporting practices the
committee reviews accounting policies, areas of
judgement, the going concern assumption and
compliance with accounting standards and the
requirements of the Financial Services Authority.
The committee also reviews, prior to publication,
the interim and annual financial statements and
other major statements affecting the Group
concerning price-sensitive information.
The committee has approved a policy on employing
the auditors to provide services other than audit
services, which is to require a competitive tender
except in narrowly-defined circumstances where
the company considers that for confidentiality, past
knowledge or other reasons, there is an advantage
in using a single tender procurement procedure.
The committee has determined that the following
assignments should not be undertaken by the auditors:
• the provision of internal audit services; and
• advice on large IT systems.
The Board is satisfied that this policy is conducive to the
maintenance of auditor independence and objectivity.
Relations with shareholders
The Board actively seeks and encourages
engagement with major institutional and other
shareholders and has put in place arrangements
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designed to facilitate contact about remuneration
and other issues. This provides the opportunity for
meetings with the chairman, the Senior Independent
Director as well as the chief executive and finance
director and other executives in order to establish a
mutual understanding of objectives. There is a
structured programme of investor relations, based on
formal announcements and publications covering the
full year and interim results. There are associated
briefings for stockbroking analysts and investors,
the presentation material for which is published on
the company’s website.
All directors receive formal reports and briefings
during the year about the company’s investor relations
programme and receive detailed feedback through
surveys, direct contact and other means, through
which they are able to develop an understanding of
the views of major shareholders about the company.
Constructive use of the Annual General Meeting
The Board encourages shareholders to participate
in the Annual General Meeting. In 2005 this will be
supplemented by the opportunity for shareholders
to visit one of the company’s developments in the
vicinity of the meeting.
Information about the company and the Group,
including full year and interim results and other major
announcements, is published on the company’s
website www.taylorwoodrow.com
Going concern
After making enquiries, the directors have formed
a judgement, at the time of approving the accounts,
that there is a reasonable expectation that the Group
and the company have adequate resources to continue
in operational existence for the foreseeable future.
For this reason, the directors continue to adopt the
going concern basis in preparing the accounts.

Directors’ Remuneration Report
Introduction
This report has been prepared in accordance with
Schedule 7A to the Companies Act 1985 (‘the Act’).
The report also meets the relevant requirements of
the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority
and describes how the Board has applied the
Principles of Good Governance relating to directors’
remuneration. As required by the Act, a resolution
to approve the report will be proposed at the Annual
General Meeting of the company on 26 April 2005 at
which the Financial Statements will be laid before the
members.The Act requires the auditors to report to
the company’s members on certain parts of the
Directors’ Remuneration Report and to state whether
in their opinion those parts of the report have been
properly prepared in accordance with the Act.
The report has therefore been divided into separate
sections for unaudited and audited information.
Unaudited information
Remuneration Committee
The Board, whilst ultimately responsible for the
framework and approval of executive remuneration,
has established a Remuneration Committee which is
constituted in accordance with the recommendations
of the Combined Code. The Committee’s terms of
reference are to establish and maintain formal and
transparent procedures for developing policy on
executive remuneration and for fixing the remuneration
packages of individual directors, and to monitor
and report on them. The Committee makes
recommendations to the Board. The members of
the Committee who considered matters relating to
directors in the financial year were Lady Robin Innes
Ker (Committee Chairman), Norman Askew, Mike
Davies, Vernon Sankey, all of whom are independent
non-executive directors and, for part of the year, Sir
George Russell. Their details, including attendances
at meetings held during 2004, are listed in Corporate
Governance on page 39.
None of the Committee members has any personal
financial interest (other than as shareholders),
conflicts of interests arising from cross-directorships
or day-to-day involvement in running the business.
No director plays a part in any discussion about his
or her own remuneration.
Advice
In determining the directors’ remuneration for the
year, the Committee consulted Iain Napier (chief
executive) and Alec Luhaste (Group director of human
resources) about its proposals. The Committee
appointed Towers Perrin to provide advice on directors’
remuneration packages. Towers Perrin did not provide
any other services to the company or the Group.
KPMG LLP advises the company on executive pay
and practices, including share-based reward.

Remuneration policy for the executive directors
and other senior executives
Executive remuneration packages are designed to
attract, motivate and retain executive directors and
key senior executives of the high calibre needed to
maintain the Group’s position as a leading company
in its sector and to reward them for achieving a high
level of corporate performance in line with the best
interests of shareholders. The performance
measurement of the executive directors and key
members of senior management and the determination
of their annual remuneration package is undertaken
by the Committee.
The following are the main elements of the
remuneration package for executive directors
and senior management:
• basic annual salary;
• benefits-in-kind;
• annual bonus payments;
• participation in the deferred bonus plan;
• participation in the performance share plan; and
• pension arrangements.
The Committee has procedures in place to monitor
the size of potential pay awards. The company’s policy
is that a substantial proportion of the remuneration
of the executive directors should be performancerelated. In 2004 the proportion of fixed and variable
pay of the executive directors was 61.3 per cent and
38.7 per cent respectively.
Executive directors are entitled to accept appointments
outside the company provided that the Board’s prior
permission is obtained and a determination made
in respect of any fees resulting from all such
appointments. Iain Napier, the chief executive, is a
non-executive director of Imperial Tobacco Group plc
and was also a non-executive director of The BOC
Group plc between 1 May 2004 and 22 December
2004. During 2004 he received fees of £40,000 and
£27,000 from these companies respectively. He is
permitted to retain these fees.
Basic salary
An executive director’s basic salary is reviewed by
the Committee annually and when an individual
changes position or responsibility. In deciding
appropriate levels, the Committee considers pay
levels in the Group as a whole and relies on objective
research from Towers Perrin which gives up-to-date
information on comparator groups of companies
which comprise FTSE 150, FTSE 100 to 150 companies
and an industry-specific group comprising 25 companies
representing the housing, development and
construction industry, namely Alfred McAlpine, Amec,
Balfour Beatty, Barratt Developments, Bellway
Homes, Berkeley Group, Bovis Homes, British Land,
Canary Wharf Group, Carillion, Costain, Countryside
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Properties, Crest Nicholson, George Wimpey,
Hammerson, Kier, Land Securities, Liberty
International, McCarthy & Stone, Mowlem,
Persimmon, Redrow, Slough Estates, Westbury
Homes and Wilson Bowden.
The Committee relies both on this research and on its
own judgement when determining appropriate levels
of remuneration, taking into account the scale and
scope of individuals’ responsibilities and corporate
performance. Basic salaries were reviewed in January
2004, with changes taking effect from 1 April 2004. In
order to align the review cycle with general industry,
the salaries of the members of the Executive
Committee and certain senior managers are now set
on a calendar year basis. Accordingly, salaries were
reviewed in November 2004 with any consequent
changes being made from 1 January 2005. Reviews
take account of the level of remuneration elsewhere
in the business.
Executive directors’ contracts of service, which
include details of remuneration, will be available
for inspection at the Annual General Meeting and
generally as described in the 2005 Annual General
Meeting circular.
Benefits-in-kind
The executive directors receive certain benefits-inkind, principally a car or an allowance in lieu, life
assurance, private medical insurance and non-taxable
participation in an Income Protection Plan. Benefits-inkind are not pensionable.
Annual bonus payments and the deferred
bonus plan
The Committee establishes the objectives that must
be met for each financial year if a performance-related
bonus is to be paid.
In setting appropriate bonus parameters, the Committee
refers to the objective research by Towers Perrin on
the comparator group of companies as noted above.
Account is also taken of the relative success of the
different parts of the business for which the executive
directors are responsible and the extent to which the
strategic objectives set by the Board are being met.
The current maximum award that can be made under
the Plan to executive directors in any one year is
100 per cent of salary. 2004’s bonus awards were
dependent upon the achievement of a number of
business-specific and personal ‘stretch’ targets.
The targets include factors which the Board considers
to be commercially confidential if disclosed in detail,
but in order to provide meaningful information to
shareholders, they are summarised as follows:
• Achievement of specified levels of profit before
tax for 2004. A significant element of the bonus is
dependent on this target;
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• Achievement of improvements in health and
safety performance, based on specified levels
of safety management performance and site
inspection results;
• Achievement of specified customer satisfaction
ratings;
• Achievement of specified cost reductions at the
centre and operational areas of the business;
• Achievement of specified synergy savings;
• Other important issues affecting business success.
Most, but not all of the targets were achieved.
For 2004, the maximum performance-related bonus
that can be paid is 100 per cent of basic salary for the
chief executive and 85 per cent in the case of the
other executive directors. Bonus awards for executive
directors in respect of the year ended 31 December
2004 ranged between 65 per cent and 95 per cent of
basic salary, reflecting performance against the targets.
For 2005, bonus targets have been set based broadly
on the 2004 framework, and designed to reflect the
company’s performance relative to the peer Group.
No bonus or deferred bonus is pensionable.
Bonus Plan matching award
The Committee believes that receipt of matching
shares under the deferred bonus plan should be tied
to the interests of the company’s shareholders and
that a principal measure of those interests is growth
in earnings per share (Eps). Eps is calculated using the
adjusted basic earnings per share as shown in Note 8
to the Financial Statements.
Accordingly executive directors and certain senior
executives have the opportunity of participating in the
deferred bonus plan by investing some or all of their
bonus in the purchase of shares in the company. If
these shares remain undrawn for a period of three
years, the company will match them on a one for one
basis, provided that Group Eps shall have grown by at
least three percent compound in real terms during the
prior three financial years.
Proposed increase of future bonus potential
The Committee has reviewed the maximum level
of bonus potential for executive directors and
considers that it would be appropriate for this to
be increased in line with industry and sector trends.
As a result of this review the Committee has agreed
that for 2005 the maximum performance-related
bonus potential for the chief executive shall remain
at its present level of 100 per cent and for executive
directors shall be increased from 85 per cent to
100 per cent of basic salary.
Executive share-based reward
As reported in the Remuneration Report for 2003, the
Remuneration Committee decided in November 2003
to make no further grants under the Taylor Woodrow
Executive Share Option Plan for the foreseeable future
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and to replace it with the Performance Share Plan,
which is summarised below, and which shareholders
approved at the 2004 Annual General Meeting.
Performance Share Plan
In order to incentivise executive directors and other
senior executives, the company established the new
Performance Share Plan during 2004. The Remuneration
Committee or a specially appointed committee of
independent non-executive directors is responsible for
supervising the plan and for the grant or recommendation
of awards under its terms.
Conditional awards of shares are made to participants,
entitling them to receive shares of the company at no
direct cost upon the expiry of three years, provided
that the performance criterion is fulfilled. The current
maximum value of awards that can be made under
the Plan in any one year is 75 per cent of salary. The
awards made in 2004 to each of the executive
directors were for 75 per cent of basic salary.
The performance criterion governing the initial awards
made during 2004 requires that in order for 50 per
cent of the award to vest, the company’s Eps must
outperform the UK Index of Retail Prices (RPI) by 3 per
cent per annum compound over three years. In order
for 100 per cent of the award to vest, the company’s
Eps must outperform the RPI by 6 per cent per
annum compound over three years. There is a sliding
scale between these two targets. There will be no
re-testing of the performance condition.
The performance criterion, which applies to all
participants in the Plan, was chosen because it is
considered to be an appropriate indicator of
management’s success in advancing the performance
of the business. Eps is calculated as described on
page 44.
Proposed increase of Performance Share
Plan awards
It is proposed to seek shareholders’ approval at the
2005 Annual General Meeting for the introduction of
an additional TSR-based element to the existing Plan,
which is designed to encourage executives to meet
both their existing Eps growth targets and, in addition,
to outperform their peer group. The additional awards
would begin to be earned, if and only if, a prescribed
level of real Eps growth is achieved and would vest at
cut-in only if the company’s TSR exceeds the median
for its peer group. Initially it will be restricted to the
members of the Executive Committee.
These measures are indicative of the company’s
intent to improve its performance relative to its peer
group whilst continuing to focus on earnings growth.
Full details are contained in the 2005 Annual General
Meeting Circular. The additional awards will not

become policy until the Plan amendments have been
approved by shareholders.
Executive Share Option Plan
Prior to the suspension of the Taylor Woodrow
Executive Share Option Plan, options were granted
to executive directors and to other executives
under the terms of the Plan during the period up to
9 October 2003.
The Committee placed a restriction on the maximum
aggregate value of options that could be awarded to
any individual to six times basic salary, within which
there is a restriction in the case of options to be
satisfied by the issue of new shares, where the limit is
four times basic salary.
Exercises of those options are subject to the
attainment of a performance criterion which applies to
all participants, namely that growth in the company’s
Eps must exceed the RPI by a specified measure over
the three year period immediately preceding the year
in which the option first becomes exercisable. Eps
was selected as the measure, as the Committee
considers it to be an appropriate indicator of
management’s success in advancing the performance
of the business. A three-year measurement period
was selected based on independent research of plans
introduced during 2004. The performance criteria are
as follows:
• Options granted prior to 2001: Eps to exceed the
RPI by 6 per cent
• Options granted during 2001: Eps to exceed the
RPI by 9 per cent
• Options granted in 2002 onwards:
– Eps to exceed the RPI by 12 per cent (for awards
which cause aggregate option values, measured at
the time of grant, to exceed three times basic
salary); and
– Eps to exceed the RPI by 15 per cent (for awards
which cause aggregate option values, measured at
the time of grant, to exceed four times basic salary).
Eps is calculated as described on page 44.
For awards made prior to October 2003, if the
performance test is not satisfied at the first opportunity,
it can be repeated annually until it is satisfied, or the
option lapses. Once the test is satisfied, these options
may be exercised during the remainder of their life
without further tests, subject to the Plan rules.
For awards granted from October 2003, the company
reduced the number of performance re-tests to two,
which are applied at the 4th and 5th anniversaries of
the date of grant. For these re-tests, the measurement
period is four and five years respectively. If the
performance test is not satisfied at the final re-test,
the option lapses.
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The exercise price of the options granted under
the above Plan is equal to the market value of the
company’s shares at the time when the options
were granted.
All-employee share plans
United Kingdom
The company operates a Sharesave Plan for eligible
UK employees under which options may be granted
at a discount of up to 20 per cent of market value.
Additionally, a UK Share Purchase Plan has been
introduced under which all UK employees with
3 months’ service are permitted to invest up to
£1,500 per annum of their pre-tax earned income in
the purchase of ‘partnership’ shares of the company.
Such shares, if held for a period of three years,
attract an award of free ‘matching’ shares. Currently
participants receive one ‘matching’ share for each
‘partnership’ share purchased.
The executive directors are eligible to participate in
these all-employee Plans.
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company’s incentive plans. This matter will be
reviewed by the Remuneration Committee and/or
the Audit Committee over the coming months.

Earnings Cap on his pension, he also receives an
additional salary allowance/supplement of 12.5 per
cent of his basic salary.

Pension arrangements
Details of the Group’s principal UK pension schemes
are given in Note 23 to the Financial Statements.

Taylor Woodrow Personal Choice Pension Plan
With effect from 1 April 2002 the company introduced
the Taylor Woodrow Personal Choice Plan, a defined
contribution Pension Scheme which all new eligible
UK employees are invited to join.

Of these, the Taylor Woodrow Group Pension and Life
Assurance Fund, into which the Bryant Group Pension
Scheme was merged in June 2002 and the Wilson
Connolly Holdings Pension Scheme, the Wainhomes
Limited Pension Scheme, the Prestoplan Pension
Scheme and the Wilson Connolly Defined Contribution
Pension Scheme were merged in August 2004, is
a funded scheme with defined benefit and defined
contribution elements. The Taylor Woodrow Personal
Choice Plan is a Defined Contribution Pension Scheme.
All members of these schemes are entitled to payment
of a lump sum in the event of death in service.
Dependants of members of the defined benefit
elements are eligible for dependants’ pensions.

At 31 December 2004 Iain Napier and Peter Johnson
were members of this Plan. The company contributes
to the Plan 38 per cent and 34.5 per cent respectively
of their basic salary, of which an amount up to the
Earnings Cap will be applied to the Plan and the
balance paid as an additional allowance, this being
reduced by the amount of employer’s National
Insurance contributions thereon. Iain Napier and
Peter Johnson each contribute 5 per cent of basic
salary, subject to the Earnings Cap.
Pensions of former directors
During 2004 no special arrangements were made for
the provision of pensions for former directors.

Only basic salary is pensionable.
Overseas Plans
During 2005, the company is planning to implement
all-employee share plans in the United States and
Canada, and to investigate the possibility of
establishing a plan in Spain, in accordance with
authorities granted by shareholders at the Annual
General Meeting in 2004.
The United States Plan would be based broadly on the
UK Sharesave Plan and would entitle participants to
contribute funds of up to a US$ amount equivalent to
£3,000 per year of their post-tax income to purchase
shares of the company at a discount of 15 per cent to
the relevant market price.
The Canadian Plan would be based broadly on the UK
Share Purchase Plan and would entitle participants to
contribute funds of up to a Can$ amount equivalent
to £1,500 per year of their post-tax income to purchase
shares of the company which, if held for a period of
3 years, would be matched by the company.

Taylor Woodrow Group Pension and Life
Assurance Fund
At 31 December 2004 Denis Mac Daid was a
member of the Taylor Woodrow section of the Fund,
which provides defined benefits of 2 per cent of final
pensionable salary for each year of pensionable
service. The Fund was closed to new entrants from
31 March 2002. With effect from 1 September 2004,
a restriction was applied so as to limit the amount of
any increase in pensionable salary of members of this
scheme to the lesser of the actual increase in basic
salary or the RPI, subject to a maximum of 5 per cent
per annum. The company contributes to an individual
top up arrangement for each member a sum calculated
on the full basic salary. The company’s contributions
in respect of Denis Mac Daid and Graeme McCallum
totalled £10,900 and £850 for the year respectively
and were credited to an additional voluntary
contribution (AVC) account and to an individual top-up
arrangement respectively.

Performance graph
The following graph shows the company’s performance,
measured by total shareholder return, compared with
the performance of the FTSE 250 Share Index also
measured by total shareholder return. The FTSE 250
Share Index has been selected for this comparison
because the company is a constituent of that Index
and in order to provide consistency of comparison
with the 2003 Directors’ Remuneration Report.
Taylor Woodrow - total shareholder return
(last 5 years)
Growth in value of a hypothetical £100 holding over
five years
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If implemented, the Spanish Plan would be based
broadly on the UK Sharesave Plan and would entitle
participants to contribute funds of up to a Euro amount
equivalent to £3,000 per year to purchase shares of
the company at a discount of up to 20 per cent to the
relevant market price.
Impact of International Financial Reporting
Standards on performance criteria of incentive
plans
The move to International Financial Reporting
Standards will impact the calculation of Eps for the
purpose of performance measurement under the
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Details of Denis Mac Daid’s and Graeme McCallum’s
accrued pension entitlements under the Fund and the
opening and closing transfer values of their accrued
pension rights are shown in the tables of directors’
pension entitlements on page 52.
At 31 December 2004 Graeme McCallum was a
member of the Wilson Connolly Holdings section of
the Fund. He has a target annual benefit of 78 per cent
of his final pensionable pay, which is restricted to the
Earnings Cap, currently £102,000, at his normal
retirement age of 60. To reflect the impact of the
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This graph has been prepared from information obtained through
Datastream. It shows the theoretical growth in the value of a
shareholding over the specified period, assuming that dividends
are re-invested to purchase additional units of equity at the closing
price applicable on the ex-dividend date. Historical data is based
on the constituent companies at each given date.
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Directors’ contracts
It is the company’s policy that executive directors
should have contracts of employment providing for
a maximum of one year’s notice. However, it may be
necessary occasionally to offer longer notice periods
to new directors. Where this arises, it is the
company’s policy to reduce the notice period to one
year within one year of appointment of the director.

AUDITED INFORMATION
Aggregate directors’ remuneration
The total amounts for directors’ remuneration were as follows:

Emoluments
Compensation for loss of office
Gains on exercise of share options
Amounts receivable under long-term incentive schemes
Money purchase pension contributions

The details of the directors’ contracts are summarised
in the table below:
Name

Date of contract

Unexpired term

Notice periods
Notice periods
Company (months) Director (months)

Normal retirement
age

Iain Napier

10 January 2002

12 months

12

12

60*

Peter Johnson

1 November 2002

12 months

12

12

60*

Denis Mac Daid

3 August 2001

12 months

12

6

62**

Graeme McCallum

2 October 2003

12 months

12

12

*Executive Directors seeking re-election at the Annual General Meeting.
**As announced on 20 October 2004, Denis Mac Daid will be retiring from the Board and as an employee on 30 June 2005.

Name of director

Basic
salary/fees

2,766

2004
total

2003
total

£000

£000*

£000

£000

£000

Executive
Iain Napier
Peter Johnson
Denis Mac Daid
Graeme McCallum

519
308
294
294

150
74
37

25
26
17
21

503
246
195
195

1,197
654
506
547

950
566
410
381

150
38
38
38
38
16
-

-

-

-

150
38
38
38
38
16
-

64
8
38
38
81
60
90

3,222

Term of
appointment

Notice period by
Notice period by
Company (months) Director (months)

Norman Askew

25 July 2003

3 years*

3

3

Mike Davies

29 September 2003 3 years*

1

1

Aggregate emoluments

1,733

261

89

1,139

Lady Robin Innes Ker

21 May 2001

1 year

1

1

2003:

1,469

210

94

913

Andrew Dougal (proposed for

31 October 2002

1 year

1

1

15 December 2003

3 years*

1

1

* Initial term, subject to review on first anniversary and annually thereafter.

3,299

Bonus in
respect of 2004

Date of letter of
appointment

Vernon Sankey

2,686
34
46

Benefits-inkind

Name of director

re-appointment at the Annual General Meeting)

3,222
32
45

Salary
supplement in
lieu of pension
£000

Non-executive
Norman Askew
Mike Davies
Lady Robin Innes Ker
Andrew Dougal
Vernon Sankey
Dr Hawley (former director)
Sir George Russell (former director)
Norman Broadhurst (former director)

Non-executive directors
None of the non-executive directors has a service
contract, as their terms of engagement are regulated
by letters of appointment as follows:

2003
£000

Directors’ emoluments

60

It is the company’s policy that liquidated damages should not apply on the termination of an executive director’s contract. In accordance with
this approach, payment for early termination of contract (without cause) by the company is, in the case of each of the executive directors, to
be determined in accordance with normal principles of English law, which requires mitigation of liability on a case by case basis. Any such
payment would typically be determined by reference to the main elements of a director’s remuneration, namely, salary, contractual bonus,
benefits-in-kind and pension entitlements.

2004
£000

2,686

Notes
*Includes non-cash payments.
No expense allowances are paid.
No termination payments were made to directors during the year.
No payments were made during the year to former directors.

Their remuneration is determined by the Board based
on research of fees paid to non-executive directors of
similar companies within the FTSE 150 index and the
sector peer group, subject to the overall limits set by
the Articles of Association.
The fees of the chairman in the year were £150,000
per annum and the fees of each non-executive
director were £37,500. Non-executive directors
cannot participate in any of the company’s share
option plans and are not eligible to join the company’s
pension scheme.
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Directors’ Remuneration Report continued

Directors’ Remuneration Report continued

Directors’ share options
Aggregate emoluments disclosed above do not include any amounts for the value of options to acquire ordinary shares in the
company granted to or held by the directors. Details of the options exercised during the year are as follows:

Directors’ share options continued

Name of director

Plan

Denis Mac Daid

Executive option
Bonus plan
Sharesave

Number of
option shares
exercised

Exercise price
(pence)

Market price at
exercise date
(pence)

Gains on
exercise 2004
£

Gains on
exercise 2003
£

19,607
7,601

153
133.2

277.25
236

24,362
7,814

28,026
6,063

32,176

34,089

Graeme
McCallum

Executive option
Sharesave
Performance share plan

111,561
-

4,177
80,8622

-

111,561
4,177
80,862

Total

111,561

85,039

-

196,600

246.5
226.8
-

3.10.06
1.12.07
10.5.07

2.10.13
31.5.08
9.5.09

1. Market value per share on date of grant 2 April 2004 was 299.9267 pence.
2. Market value per share on date of grant 10 May 2004 was 278.25 pence.

There have been no variations to the terms and conditions or performance criteria for outstanding share options during the
financial year.

Details of options for directors who served during the year are as follows:
Name of
director

Iain Napier

Plan

Granted

Exercised

(Number)

(Number)

31 December
2004

Exercise
price
(pence)

Date from
which
exercisable

Expiry date

Executive option
Executive option
Executive option
Sharesave
Bonus Plan:
Matching award
Matching award
Performance share plan

1,193,819
236,111
196,754
6,350

-

-

1,193,819
236,111
196,754
6,350

178
180
246.5
148.8

10.1.05
8.10.05
3.10.06
1.12.05

9.1.12
7.10.12
2.10.13
31.5.06

112,046
-

109,2321
142,8572

-

112,046
109,232
142.857

-

7.4.06
2.4.07
10.5.07

6.4.13
1.4.14
9.5.09

Total

1,745,080

190,094

-

1,935,174

295,857
174,036
8,037

-

-

295,857
174,036
8,037

169
246.5
197.2

9.12.05
3.10.06
1.12.08

8.12.12
2.10.13
31.5.09

-

52,6361
84,9052

-

52,636
84,905

-

2.4.07
10.5.07

1.4.14
9.5.09

Total

477,930

137,541

-

615,471

Executive option
Executive option
Executive option
Executive option
Executive option
Executive option
Bonus Plan:
Matching award
Sharesave
Sharesave
Bonus Plan:
Matching award
Performance share plan

40,000
15,000
59,999
130,000
208,333
167,342

-

19,607
-

40,000
15,000
40,392
130,000
208,333
167,342

156.5
181
153
170
180
246.5

7.11.99
29.3.02
17.10.03
20.12.04
8.10.05
3.10.06

6.11.06
28.3.09
16.10.10
19.12.11
7.10.12
2.10.13

60,654
7,601
3,215

-

7,601
-

60,654
3,215

-

7.4.06

6.4.13

197.2

1.12.08

31.5.09

-

41,260
80,8622

-

41,260
80,862

-

2.4.07
10.5.07

1.4.14
9.5.09

Total

692,144

122,122

27,208

787,058

Peter Johnson Executive option
Executive option
Sharesave
Bonus Plan:
Matching award
Performance share plan

Denis
Mac Daid

1 January
2004

Details of the performance criteria relating to the exercise of options under the Taylor Woodrow Executive Share Option Plan and
conditional awards under the Performance Share Plan appear earlier in this Remuneration Report.
The market price of the ordinary shares at 31 December 2004 was £2.72 and the range during the year was £2.305 to £2.99.

Directors’ interests in shares and Loan Notes of the company

Directors’ interests in 25 pence ordinary shares held (fully paid) and Floating Rate Unsecured Loan Notes 2008
at 1.1.04

Norman Askew
Iain Napier
Mike Davies
Lady Robin Innes Ker
Andrew Dougal
Peter Johnson
Denis Mac Daid
Graeme McCallum
Vernon Sankey

at 31.12.04

25p ordinary
shares

Loan notes†

9,974
131,046
5,000
1,000
5,000
30,663
157,230
102,123
-

194,890
-

25p ordinary
shares

9,974
241,528*
5,000
1,000
5,000
84,549*
213,034
102,123
10,778

Loan notes†

Executive
directors’ share
interests at 31
December 2004
expressed as a
percentage of
basic salary

124%
-

172,890
-

73%
193%
93%

* Includes 1,250 held by Halifax Corporate Trustees Limited under the Taylor Woodrow 2004 Share Purchase Plan.
† The Floating Rate Unsecured Loan Notes 2008 were created on 31 August 2003 in connection with the acquisition of Wilson Connolly Holdings plc.

At 31 December 2004, each executive director had a notional interest in 6,587,166 ordinary shares of the company, being
unappropriated ordinary shares held by the trustee of the Taylor Woodrow Group ESOP Trust in connection with the Taylor Woodrow
Executive Share Option Plan and the Executive Bonus Plan by the trustee of the Taylor Woodrow 2004 Benefit Trust, by the trustee
of the Wilson Connolly Employee Share Trust in connection with the Wilson Connolly Incentive Share Plan and the trustee of the
Wilson Connolly QUEST in connection with the Wilson Connolly Savings-Related Share Option Scheme.
Change of control
The executive directors’ contracts contain no express provisions relating to a change of control of the company. In such event, the
directors’ rights and entitlements would be ascertained as stated in ‘Directors’ contracts’ on page 48.
The Rules of the Performance Share Plan and its predecessor the Executive Share Option Plan, the Deferred Bonus Plan and
the company’s all-employee share plans provide for share entitlements to vest on a proportionate basis in the event of a change
of control.
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Directors’ Responsibilities for the Financial Statements

Directors’ pension entitlements
Defined benefit schemes
Denis Mac Daid and Graeme McCallum are members of the Taylor Woodrow Group Pension and Life Assurance Fund. Denis Mac Daid
has enhanced pension rights by virtue of overseas service for the company, which entitle him to retire at age 60 and 7 months.
Graeme McCallum has enhanced rights, which entitle him to benefits at the age of 60. Their accrued rights under the schemes
are as follows:

United Kingdom company law requires the directors
to prepare financial statements for each financial year
which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs
of the company and the Group as at the end of the
financial year and of the profit or loss of the Group for
that period. In preparing those financial statements,
the directors are required to:

Name of director

Accrued pension
31 December
2003

Increase in
accrued pension
in the year

£

181,500
2,613

Denis Mac Daid
Graeme McCallum

Transfer value
in respect of
increase in
accrued pension
£

Accrued pension
31 December
2004

£

Increase in
accrued pension
in the year
including inflation
£

20,543
1,779

15,461
1,706

255,636
27,950

202,043
4,392

£

Denis Mac Daid
Graeme McCallum

Transfer value
31 December
2003

Contributions
made by the
director

£

3,048,710
43,615

• make judgements and estimates that are
reasonable and prudent;
• state whether applicable accounting standards
have been followed; and

The following table sets out the transfer value of Denis Mac Daid’s and Graeme McCallum’s accrued benefits under the scheme
calculated in a manner consistent with ‘Retirement Benefit Schemes – Transfer Values (GN 11)’ published by the Institute of
Actuaries and the Faculty of Actuaries.
Name of director

• select appropriate accounting policies and then
apply them consistently;

Transfer value
31 December
2004

£

Increase in
transfer value
in the year net of
contributions
£

4,950

529,883
36,591

3,578,593
85,156

£

The transfer values disclosed above do not represent a sum paid or payable to the individual director. Instead they represent
a potential liability of the pension scheme. Increases in transfer values resulted from increases in salary and pensionable service for
these directors. Members of the scheme have the option to pay Additional Voluntary Contributions; neither the contributions nor the
resulting benefits are included in the above tables.

• prepare the accounts on the going concern basis
unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group
will continue in business.
The directors are responsible for keeping proper
accounting records which disclose with reasonable
accuracy at any time the financial position of the
company and enable them to ensure that the Financial
Statements comply with the Companies Act 1985.
They are also responsible for the Group’s system of
internal financial control and for taking such steps as are
reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of
the Group and for taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Money purchase schemes
Two directors are members of money purchase schemes. Contributions paid by the company in respect of these directors
(excluding the defined contribution top-up contributions under the Personal Choice Plan referred to above) were as follows:
Name of director

Iain Napier
Peter Johnson

2004
£

2003
£

25,312
20,250

24,637
21,330

The Remuneration Committee will be reviewing the Company’s pensions policy in order to develop an appropriate response to
the proposed changes to UK pensions legislation and will disclose further details in relation to this in next year’s report.
Approval
This report was approved by the Board of directors on 1 March 2005 and signed on its behalf by:

Lady Robin Innes Ker
1 March 2005
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Independent Auditors’ Report to the members of Taylor Woodrow plc
We have audited the Financial Statements of Taylor
Woodrow plc for the year ended 31 December 2004
which comprise the profit and loss account, the
balance sheets, the cash flow statement, the
statement of total recognised gains and losses, the
reconciliation of movements in shareholders’ funds,
the note of historical cost profits and losses, the
statement of accounting policies and the related
Notes 1 to 34. These Financial Statements have been
prepared under the accounting policies set out
therein. We have also audited the information in the
part of the directors’ remuneration report that is
described as having been audited.

We are not required to consider whether the Board’s
statements on internal control cover all risks and
controls, or form an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s corporate governance procedures or its risk
and control procedures.

This report is made solely to the company’s members,
as a body, in accordance with section 235 of the
Companies Act 1985. Our audit work has been
undertaken so that we might state to the company’s
members those matters we are required to state to
them in an auditors’ report and for no other purpose.
To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not
accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than
the company and the company’s members as a body,
for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions
we have formed.

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with United
Kingdom auditing standards issued by the Auditing
Practices Board. An audit includes examination, on a
test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and
disclosures in the Financial Statements and the part of
the directors’ remuneration report described as having
been audited. It also includes an assessment of the
significant estimates and judgements made by the
directors in the preparation of the Financial Statements
and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate
to the circumstances of the company and the Group,
consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

Respective responsibilities of directors and
auditors
As described in the statement of directors’
responsibilities, the company’s directors are
responsible for the preparation of the Financial
Statements in accordance with applicable United
Kingdom law and accounting standards. They are also
responsible for the preparation of the other information
contained in the Annual Report including the directors’
remuneration report. Our responsibility is to audit the
Financial Statements and the part of the directors’
remuneration report described as having been audited
in accordance with relevant United Kingdom legal and
regulatory requirements and auditing standards.
We report to you our opinion as to whether the
Financial Statements give a true and fair view and
whether the Financial Statements and the part of the
directors’ remuneration report described as having
been audited have been properly prepared in
accordance with the Companies Act 1985. We also
report to you if, in our opinion, the directors’ report
is not consistent with the Financial Statements, if the
company has not kept proper accounting records,
if we have not received all the information and
explanations we require for our audit, or if information
specified by law regarding directors’ remuneration
and transactions with the company and other
members of the Group is not disclosed.
We review whether the corporate governance
statement reflects the company’s compliance with
the nine provisions of the 2003 FRC Combined Code
specified for our review by the Listing Rules of the
Financial Services Authority, and we report if it does not.
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We read the directors’ report and the other information
contained in the Annual Report for the above year
as described in the contents section including the
unaudited part of the directors’ remuneration report
and consider the implications for our report if we
become aware of any apparent misstatements or
material inconsistencies with the Financial Statements.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain
all the information and explanations which we
considered necessary in order to provide us with
sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that
the Financial Statements and the part of the directors’
remuneration report described as having been audited
are free from material misstatement, whether caused
by fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our
opinion, we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the
presentation of information in the Financial Statements
and the part of the directors’ remuneration report
described as having been audited.
Opinion
In our opinion:
• the Financial Statements give a true and fair view of
the state of affairs of the company and the Group as
at 31 December 2004 and of the profit of the Group
for the year then ended; and
• the Financial Statements and the part of the
directors’ remuneration report described as having
been audited have been properly prepared in
accordance with the Companies Act 1985.

Deloitte & Touche LLP
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
London
1 March 2005

Accounting Policies
The following accounting policies have been used
consistently, unless otherwise stated, in dealing with
items which are considered material.
Basis of preparation
The Financial Statements have been prepared in
accordance with applicable United Kingdom accounting
standards under the historical cost convention modified
by the revaluation of certain properties. The Group has
adopted FRS 17 ‘Retirement benefits’ in full for the
year to 31 December 2004 and comparative figures
for 2003 have been restated accordingly. As permitted
by the Companies Act 1985 the company has not
presented its own profit and loss account.
Basis of consolidation
The Financial Statements consolidate the accounts
of the company and its subsidiary undertakings and
include the Group’s share of the results and postacquisition reserves of its joint ventures. The results
of the companies acquired are included from the date
of their acquisition.
A joint venture is defined as an undertaking other than
a subsidiary or associated undertaking in which the
Group has a significant influence and which is jointly
controlled by the joint venturers.
The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results of
joint ventures is shown in the consolidated profit and
loss account.
Investments in joint ventures are included in the
consolidated balance sheet at cost plus the
appropriate shares of post-acquisition results and
reserves as disclosed in the latest balance sheets.
Goodwill
Goodwill arising on consolidation represents the
excess of the fair value of the consideration given over
the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired.
Goodwill is capitalised as an asset and amortised
through the profit and loss account over its useful
economic life, which is 15 or 20 years. Goodwill
arising on acquisition of subsidiary undertakings prior
to 1 January 1998 was written off against retained
profit and loss account under the Group’s policy prior
to the implementation of FRS 10 ‘Goodwill and
Intangible Assets’. The goodwill has not been reinstated
in the balance sheet. Any goodwill written off against
reserves will be charged to the profit and loss account
in the event of the disposal of the related business.
Turnover
Turnover comprises sales of private housing and
development properties on legal completion, gross
rents receivable, the value of the contracting work
executed during the year and the invoiced value of
other sales.

Profit on ordinary activities for the year
The profit for the year includes the result of the year’s
operations together with residual profits in respect of
work done in prior years. Profit on contracts is stated
after provision for known losses and contingencies.
No credit is taken for claims until the cash is received.
Realised profits or losses on the disposal of tangible
assets are included in ordinary profit; such profits
are calculated by reference to the carrying value of
the asset.
Research and development costs are written off
as incurred.
Overseas currencies
Exchange differences arising in the ordinary course
of trading are reflected in the profit and loss account.
Profit and loss accounts of overseas subsidiary
undertakings, joint ventures and branches are
translated into sterling at average rates. Assets and
liabilities are translated at exchange rates ruling at
the balance sheet date.
Unrealised exchange differences on share capital,
revaluation reserve, pre-acquisition retained profit
and loss account, inter-company long-term loans
and foreign currency borrowings, to the extent that
they hedge the Group’s investment in overseas
operations, are taken to revaluation reserve.
Exchange differences on post-acquisition profits in
overseas currencies are taken to retained profit and
loss account.
Operating leases
Operating lease rentals are charged to the profit and
loss account on a straight line basis.
Liquid resources
Liquid resources are deposits repayable after more
than one day.
Fixed assets
Investment properties are valued annually. Other fixed
asset properties are valued every three years. Long
leasehold properties are defined as those properties
with an unexpired lease term of more than 50 years.
Net surpluses on valuations of investment properties
are credited to revaluation reserve. Any permanent
diminution in value of investment properties below
cost is charged to the profit and loss account. No
depreciation is provided on investment properties;
this constitutes a departure from the statutory rules
requiring fixed assets to be depreciated over their
useful lives and is necessary to enable the accounts
to give a true and fair view.
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Accounting Policies continued
Depreciation is only one of the many factors reflected
in the annual valuation and the amount, which might
otherwise have been shown, cannot be separately
identified or quantified.
Surpluses on valuations of other fixed asset
properties are credited to revaluation reserve and any
deficits are written off to profit and loss account.
Depreciation is provided where material on other
fixed asset properties on the cost or valuation less
estimated residual value so as to write them off
systematically over their useful economic lives.
Depreciation on plant is calculated on a straight line
basis to write off the cost over the estimated useful
lives, which range from one to seven years.
Group undertakings
Investments are included in the parent company’s
balance sheet at cost less the Group’s share of any
post-acquisition losses and provision for any further
permanent diminution in value.
Stocks
Stocks are valued at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost includes all direct costs and
production overheads where appropriate.

Group Profit and Loss Account for the year ended 31 December 2004
Pensions
Following the adoption of FRS 17, the regular service
cost of providing retirement benefits to employees
during the year, together with the cost of any benefits
relating to past service is charged to operating profit
in the year.
The interest cost on retirement benefit scheme
liabilities less the expected return on the assets of
schemes during the year, based on the market value
of the schemes at the start of the year, is charged
as other finance charges to profit before taxation in
the year.

Goodwill
amortisation
& exceptional
items (notes
1 - 2)
£m

2004
£m

2003
As restated
(note 23)
£m

3,361.2
(2.6)

-

3,361.2
(2.6)

2,672.9
(3.5)

3,358.6
(2,699.3)

16.8

3,358.6
(2,682.5)

2,669.4
(2,152.7)

659.3

16.8

676.1

516.7

(189.2)

(12.4)

(201.6)

(177.2)

470.1
0.2

4.4
-

474.5
0.2

339.5
1.1

470.3
23.1

4.4
-

474.7
23.1

340.6
6.3

23

493.4
4.2
(66.3)
(66.3)
(4.2)

4.4
(41.1)
(41.1)
-

497.8
4.2
(107.4)
(107.4)
(4.2)

346.9
4.0
(44.2)
(1.0)
(45.2)
(5.2)

2
6

427.1
(129.9)

(36.7)
4.9

390.4
(125.0)

300.5
(100.6)

31

297.2
(0.6)

(31.8)
-

265.4
(0.6)

199.9
(0.4)

296.6

(31.8)

7

264.8
(64.4)

199.5
(50.4)

1.1

(1.1)

29

201.5

148.0

Notes

Continuing operations
Turnover:
Group and share of joint ventures
Less: share of joint ventures’ turnover
Group turnover
Cost of sales

1

Gross profit
Administrative expenses (2003: includes exceptional expenses
of £20.0 million – note 2)

The difference between the market value of assets
and the actuarial value of pension liabilities is shown
as a liability in the balance sheet net of deferred tax.

Group operating profit – continuing operations
Share of operating profit in joint ventures

1

Differences between actual and expected returns
on assets and experience gains/(losses) arising
on scheme liabilities during the year, together with
differences arising from changes in assumptions,
are recognised in the statement of total recognised
gains and losses in the year.

Profit on disposal of properties and investments

2

Profit on ordinary activities before interest
Interest receivable
Interest payable:
Group
Joint ventures
Other finance charges
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation
Tax on profit on ordinary activities

Deferred taxation
Deferred taxation is provided in full on timing
differences that result in an obligation at the balance
sheet date to pay more tax, or a right to pay less
tax, at a future date, at rates expected to apply when
they crystallise based on current tax rates and law.
Timing differences arise from the inclusion of income
and expenditure in taxation computations in periods
different from those in which they are included in the
Financial Statements.

Profit on ordinary activities after taxation
Minority interests (including non-equity interests)

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that
it is regarded as more likely than not that they will
be recovered. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
not discounted.

Profit for the financial year
Dividends paid and proposed on equity and non-equity shares
Difference between non-equity finance costs and the related
dividends
Profit retained

3

Before
goodwill
amortisation
& exceptional
items
£m

Basic earnings per share

8

46.2p

36.0p

Diluted earnings per share

8

45.9p

35.8p

Adjusted basic earnings per share

8

48.2p

38.6p

The potential liability to taxation on the surpluses
on valuations of properties is not provided for in
these accounts.
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Group Statement of Total Recognised Gains and Losses
for the year ended 31 December 2004

Balance Sheets at 31 December 2004

2004
£m

2003
As restated
(note 23)
£m

Profit for the financial year
Unrealised deficit on revaluation of properties
Revaluation reversed on properties transferred to stocks
Actuarial gains net of deferred taxation of £5.0m (2003: £0.6m)

264.8
10.5

199.5
(19.3)
(1.1)
0.7

Currency translation differences on foreign currency net investments

275.3
(9.0)

179.8
(2.1)

Total recognised gains and losses relating to the year

266.3

177.7

Prior year adjustment (note 23)
Total recognised gains and losses since last annual report and
financial statements

(117.6)
148.7

Group

2004
£m

2003
As restated
(note 23)
£m

2004
£m

2003
£m

9

342.8

356.7

-

-

10
11

24.4

160.2
30.3

-

-

3.4
-

3.3
-

1,431.2

2,029.1

370.6

550.5

1,431.2

2,029.1

2,618.9
282.1
118.4

2,596.7
296.0
146.5

867.2
-

633.6
40.6

3,019.4
(901.5)

3,039.2
(1,001.0)

867.2
(492.3)

674.2
(792.2)

Net current assets/(liabilities)

2,117.9

2,038.2

374.9

(118.0)

Total assets less current liabilities
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 18
Provisions for liabilities and charges
22

2,488.5
(710.7)
(37.4)

2,588.7
(845.6)
(36.0)

1,806.1
(557.2)
-

1,911.1
(674.9)
-

Net assets before post-retirement liability
Net post-retirement liability

1,740.4
(101.6)

1,707.1
(130.1)

1,248.9
-

1,236.2
-

1,638.8

1,577.0

1,248.9

1,236.2

Notes

Fixed assets
Intangible assets
Goodwill
Tangible assets
Investment properties
Other
Investments
Joint ventures
Share of gross assets (2003: £0.9m)
Share of gross liabilities (2003: £0.9m)

2004
£m

Profit for the financial year
Dividends paid and proposed on equity and non-equity shares
Other recognised gains and losses relating to the year (net)
New share capital subscribed
Redemption of preference shares
Proceeds from sale of own shares
Purchase of own shares
Own shares acquired on acquisition of subsidiary
Net increase in shareholders’ funds

2003
As restated
(note 23)
£m

264.8
(64.4)

199.5
(50.4)

200.4
1.5
3.7
(100.0)
3.2
(46.9)
-

149.1
(21.8)
173.1
1.8
(3.7)
(0.2)

61.9

298.3

Opening shareholders’ funds as previously stated
Prior year adjustment (note 23)

1,693.5
(117.6)

1,393.3
(115.7)

Opening shareholders’ funds as restated

1,575.9

1,277.6

Closing shareholders’ funds

1,637.8

1,575.9

Group Historical Cost Profits and Losses
for the year ended 31 December 2004
2004
£m

2003
As restated
(note 23)
£m

Reported profit on ordinary activities before taxation
Realisation of revaluation surpluses/(deficits) of previous years

390.4
33.5

300.5
(0.2)

Historical cost profit on ordinary activities before taxation

423.9

300.3

Historical cost profit for the year after taxation, minority interests and dividends

235.0

147.8

Current assets
Stocks
Debtors
Cash at bank and in hand

15
16

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

17

23

Net assets
Represented by:
Capital and reserves
Non-equity share capital
Equity share capital

24
24

146.7

10.0
146.1

146.7

10.0
146.1

Called up share capital
Share premium account
Revaluation reserve
Capital redemption reserve
Other reserve
Profit and loss account
Less: Own shares

24
25
26
27
28
29
30

146.7
748.1
31.5
769.9
(58.4)

156.1
745.7
38.4
21.5
1.1
627.8
(14.7)

146.7
748.1
31.5
384.7
(62.1)

156.1
745.7
21.5
1.1
326.7
(14.9)

Shareholders’ funds
Minority interests – equity and non-equity interests

31

Shareholders’ funds are analysed as:
Equity interests
Non-equity interests

1,637.8
1.0

1,575.9
1.1

1,248.9
-

1,236.2
-

1,638.8

1,577.0

1,248.9

1,236.2

1,637.8
-

1,474.8
101.1

1,248.9
-

1,135.1
101.1

1,637.8

1,575.9

1,248.9

1,236.2

These financial statements were approved by the Board of directors on 1 March 2005.
Signed on behalf of the Board of directors

N B M Askew
Director
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£m

1.4
(1.4)
13
13
14

Other
Group undertakings

Reconciliation of Movements in Group Shareholders’ Funds
for the year ended 31 December 2004

Company

PT Johnson
Director
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Group Cash Flow Statement for the year ended 31 December 2004

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2004
1. Segmental analysis

Notes

Operating activities
Cash inflow from operating activities

£m

32

Returns on investments and servicing of finance
Interest received
Interest paid
Preference dividends paid
Dividends paid by subsidiary undertakings to minority shareholders

2004
£m

£m

400.4

4.2
(113.9)
(2.4)
(0.7)

Net cash outflow from returns on investments and servicing
of finance

247.4

4.0
(47.4)
(0.1)
(112.8)

Taxation
UK corporation tax paid
Overseas tax paid

(54.3)
(45.0)

Tax paid

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from capital expenditure and
financial investment

(8.9)

(435.2)

Equity dividends paid

(53.9)

(41.4)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) before use of liquid resources and
financing

315.7

(364.0)

Management of liquid resources
Cash withdrawn from short-term deposit
Net cash inflow from management of liquid resources

38.7
32

Financing
Issue of ordinary share capital by Taylor Woodrow plc
Issue of preference share capital by Taylor Woodrow plc
Proceeds from sale of own shares
Purchase of own shares
Redemption of preference shares
Debt due within one year:
new loans
repayment of loans
Debt due after one year:
new loans
repayment of loans
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from financing
Decrease in cash in the year
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32

39.8
38.7

39.8

3.7
3.2
(50.3)
(100.0)

5.8
100.0
1.8
(4.1)
-

210.6
(319.8)

411.7
(482.2)

463.9
(568.2)

397.4
(116.5)

Net debt
Minority interests
Shareholders’ funds

(425.5)
(9.7)
-

Total overseas
United Kingdom
Goodwill amortisation/goodwill
Exceptional items (note 2)

(12.8)
3.9

-

Net cash outflow from acquisitions and disposals

By market
North America
Rest of the World
(82.4)

181.3

Acquisitions and disposals
Purchase of subsidiary undertaking
Net overdrafts acquired with subsidiary

2003
£m

Group
operating
profit
2004
£m

2003
As restated
(note 23)
£m

2,874.0
74.2
410.4

2,236.8
63.9
368.7

448.8
11.9
9.4

356.4
8.2
9.9

1,816.2
142.1
(104.6)

1,804.1
277.6
(118.5)

3,358.6

2,669.4

470.1
(20.4)
24.8

374.5
(15.0)
(20.0)

1,853.7
342.8

1,963.2
356.7

474.5

339.5

2,196.5

2,319.9

Goodwill amortisation/goodwill – housing
Exceptional items (note 2)

(48.5)
(33.9)

(8.6)
189.9

By activity
Housing
Property development and investment
Construction

Group
turnover by
origin
2004
£m

(43.5)

(99.3)

Capital expenditure and financial investment
Purchase of fixed assets and properties
Sale of fixed assets and properties

2003
£m

Capital
employed
2004
£m

2003
As restated
(note 23)
£m

863.8
123.7

691.4
113.5

127.6
25.1

91.4
33.5

317.0
51.1

340.3
34.1

987.5
2,371.1

804.9
1,864.5

152.7
317.4

124.9
249.6

368.1
1,485.6

374.4
1,588.8

3,358.6

2,669.4

470.1
(20.4)
24.8

374.5
(15.0)
(20.0)

1,853.7
342.8

1,963.2
356.7

474.5

339.5

2,196.5

2,319.9

(557.7)
(1.0)
1,637.8

(742.9)
(1.1)
1,575.9

Turnover by origin represents sales to third parties and is not materially different from turnover to third parties by destination.
Operating profit after including goodwill amortisation and exceptional items is analysed as Housing £440.9m, Property £11.9m
and Construction £21.7m and geographically as North America £128.1m, Rest of the World £25.1m and United Kingdom £321.3m
(2003 as restated: Housing £321.4m, Property £8.2m and Construction £9.9m and, geographically, North America £90.9m, Rest
of the World £33.5m and United Kingdom £215.1m).
Operating profit for construction excludes its share of the construction joint ventures and interest. Profit before taxation for
construction is £34.6m (2003 as restated: £19.4m) including these items.
Goodwill of £342.8m (2003 as restated: £356.7m) is in respect of United Kingdom £337.5m (2003 as restated: £350.6m)
and North America £5.3m (2003: £6.1m).
The increase in operating profit of £1.7m for 2003 arising from restatement because of the adoption of FRS 17 is analysed as
Housing increase £0.2m and Construction increase £1.5m; North America decrease £1.1m and United Kingdom increase £2.8m.
The decrease in capital employed of £117.6m at 31 December 2003 arising from this restatement is analysed as Housing £58.6m,
Property £1.4m and Construction £66.7m totalling £126.7m before an increase in Housing goodwill of £9.1m and, geographically,
as North America £0.6m and United Kingdom £126.1m before an increase in goodwill of £9.1m.

(356.9)

313.9

(2.5)

(10.3)
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued

2. Profit on ordinary activities before taxation

5. Particulars of employees
2004
£m

2003
£m

Profit before taxation includes:
Exceptional cost of sales credit
Exceptional administrative expenses credit

16.8
8.0

-

Total exceptional credit – curtailment of pensions liability (see below)

24.8

-

5.1

11.9

Profit on disposal of investment and other fixed asset properties
Profit on disposal of investments

15.0
8.1

1.1
5.2

Profit on disposal of properties and investments

23.1

6.3

Rents on investment properties, less outgoings

Profit before taxation is after charging:
Plant hire
Rentals under operating leases:
Hire of plant and machinery
Other operating lease rentals
Research and development (net of contributions received of £1.2m; 2003: £0.7m)
Auditors’ remuneration for external audit services
(including UK £0.4m; 2003: £0.4m)
Auditors’ remuneration for other services
(including UK £0.4m; 2003: £0.3m):
Other assurance
Tax services
Other
Depreciation – plant (including loss on disposal £nil; 2003: £nil)
Exceptional administrative expenses – integration of Wilson Connolly operations
with Taylor Woodrow United Kingdom Housing
Exceptional interest payable – loss on repurchase of 9.5% first mortgage debenture stock 2014

24.8

23.9

5.3
7.5
0.4

5.1
4.1
0.4

0.7

0.6

0.1
0.5
6.7

0.1
0.3
0.1
6.8

41.1

20.0
-

Average number employed
Housing
Property development and investment
Construction

United Kingdom
Overseas

Remuneration
Wages and salaries
Social security costs
Other pension (credit)/costs (2004: including exceptional credit £24.8m - note 2)

2004
No.

2003
No.

4,178
24
3,422

3,318
84
3,196

7,624

6,598

4,701
2,923

3,998
2,600

7,624

6,598

£m

As restated
(note 23)
£m

211.1
20.1
(11.8)

176.4
16.2
11.0

219.4

203.6

The amount included above charged to pension costs in respect of defined contribution pension schemes was £3.1m
(2003: £0.8m).

The curtailment of pensions liability is principally in respect of the Group’s United Kingdom defined benefit pension arrangements
and arises because defined benefit pensions will no longer be linked to final salaries but instead to 2004 salaries increased by the
lowest of annual salary increase, increase in the Retail Price Index or 5%; the Group will contribute to its defined contribution
pension scheme in respect of United Kingdom salaries not covered by defined benefit pension arrangements.
Auditors’ remuneration for other services in 2003 does not include amounts totalling £0.5m which were capitalised as part of
costs of acquisition of Wilson Connolly Holdings Plc.

3. Interest payable: Group
2004
£m

2003
£m

Bank loans and overdrafts
Other loans

32.4
33.9

12.2
32.0

Exceptional loss on repurchase of 9.5% first mortgage debenture stock 2014

66.3
41.1

44.2
-

107.4

44.2

4. Directors’ emoluments
Details of directors’ emoluments are contained in the audited part of the remuneration report on pages 49 to 52 and form part of
these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued

6. Tax on profit on ordinary activities

8. Earnings per share
2004
£m

United Kingdom tax
Corporation tax: Current year
Prior year
Relief for overseas tax
Deferred tax:
Current year
Prior year
Joint ventures
Overseas tax
Current:
Current year
Prior year
Deferred:
Current year
Prior year

2003
As restated
(note 23)
£m

The calculations of earnings per share are based on the following profits and numbers of shares:
Basic

67.2
1.8
(1.3)
(0.5)
0.5
0.1

57.8
(3.3)
(4.2)
6.7
(1.4)
-

60.8
(0.4)
(4.7)
1.5

37.7
(1.7)
5.5
3.5

125.0

2004
£m

Profit for the financial year
Less: Finance costs of non-equity shares
Add/(less): Exceptional items (note 2)
Curtailment of pensions liability
Loss on repurchase of debt
Integration costs
Less: Tax effect of exceptional items

264.8
(1.3)

263.5

100.6

Adjusted
2003
As restated
(note 23)
£m

199.5
(1.1)

198.4

2004
£m

264.8
(1.3)

199.5
(1.1)

(24.8)
41.1
(4.9)

20.0
(6.0)

274.9

212.4

2004
m

2003
m

570.4
3.1
1.0

550.9
3.0
0.5

574.5

554.4

The differences between the total current tax shown above and the amount calculated
by applying the standard rate of UK corporation tax to the profit before tax are as follows:
Profit on ordinary activities before tax
Share of joint ventures’ profit before tax

390.4
(0.2)

300.5
(0.1)

Weighted average number of shares:
For basic and adjusted earnings per share
Weighted average of dilutive options
Weighted average of dilutive awards under bonus plans

Group profit on ordinary activities before tax

390.2

300.4

For diluted earnings per share

117.1

90.1

Adjusted earnings per share has been shown to disclose the impact of exceptional items on underlying earnings.

(5.0)
7.9
3.1
(7.2)
4.2
(4.2)
7.8
(0.4)
(10.4)
0.8
(1.2)
0.8

9. Intangible assets - goodwill

Tax on group profit on ordinary activities at standard UK corporation tax rate of
30% (2003: 30%)
Effects of:
Under/(over) provision in respect of prior years
Amortisation of goodwill and fair value adjustments
Other permanent disallowable expenditure
Non taxable income
Overseas income receivable
Double tax relief for overseas tax
Higher rates of tax on overseas earnings
Capital allowances for the period less than/(in excess of) depreciation
Short-term timing differences
Pension provision
Tax trading losses carried forward
Other
Group current tax charge for year

1.4
8.2
1.6
(3.3)
1.8
(1.3)
6.1
0.1
2.6
(7.2)
(0.1)
1.1
128.1

86.3

The tax effect of the exceptional credit and charges was 30% (note 8). The tax effect of the profit on disposal of investment and
other fixed asset properties and investments was £nil (2003: £nil).
Deferred tax recognised in the Group statement of total recognised gains and losses relates to actuarial gains on post-retirement
liability.

7. Dividends paid and proposed on equity and non-equity shares
Dividends on equity shares
Interim paid of 3.0p per ordinary share (2003: 2.4p)
Final proposed of 8.1p per ordinary share (2003: 6.5p)
Dividends on non-equity shares
5.09875% preference dividend paid (2003: nil)
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2004
£m

2003
£m

16.5
45.5

13.0
37.4

62.0

50.4

2.4
64.4

2003
As restated
(note 23)
£m

Group
£m

Cost
31 December 2003 as previously stated
Prior year adjustment (notes 23 and 33)

386.3
9.1

31 December 2003 as restated
Changes in exchange rates
Additions in year (note 33)

395.4
(0.4)
6.9

31 December 2004

401.9

Accumulated amortisation
31 December 2003
Charge for year

38.7
20.4

31 December 2004

59.1

Net values
31 December 2004

342.8

31 December 2003

356.7

10. Investment properties
Freehold
£m

Long
leasehold
£m

Total
£m

-

Valuation
31 December 2003
Disposals

145.8
(145.8)

14.4
(14.4)

160.2
(160.2)

50.4

31 December 2004

-

-

-
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11. Other tangible assets

13. Investments in joint ventures and other companies
Freehold
properties
£m

Plant
£m

Total
£m

Cost and valuation
31 December 2003
Changes in exchange rates
Additions
Disposals

9.8
(2.3)

68.3
(0.3)
6.3
(18.4)

78.1
(0.3)
6.3
(20.7)

31 December 2004

7.5

55.9

63.4

Representing:
Properties valued
Cost
Net deficit

9.4
(1.9)

Valuation in 2003
Others not valued – cost

7.5
-

Depreciation
31 December 2003
Changes in exchange rates
Disposals
Charge for year

-

31 December 2004

-

55.9

47.8
(0.2)
(15.3)
6.7
39.0

9.4
(1.9)
7.5
55.9

47.8
(0.2)
(15.3)
6.7
39.0

Joint ventures
– shares unlisted
£m

Other
investments
£m

Cost
31 December 2003
Additions
Reductions

0.3
-

4.0
2.3
(2.2)

31 December 2004

0.3

4.1

Amounts provided
31 December 2003
Charge for year

0.3
-

0.7
-

31 December 2004

0.3

0.7

Net values
31 December 2004

-

3.4

31 December 2003

-

3.3

Loans
£m

Total
£m

The directors’ estimate of the value of unlisted investments was £3.4m (2003: £3.3m).

14. Investments in Group undertakings
Company

Shares
£m

Cost and net values
31 December 2003
Changes in exchange rates
Additions
Reductions

1,779.1
(10.0)
103.6
(441.5)

250.0
(250.0)

2,029.1
(10.0)
103.6
(691.5)

The fixed asset properties of the Group were valued as at 31 December 2003 by Knight Frank LLP, external Chartered Surveyors,
on an existing use value basis in accordance with the Appraisal and Valuation Standards (5th Edition) of the Royal Institution of
Chartered Surveyors, and that valuation, as adjusted for disposals, amounted to £7.5m.

31 December 2004

1,431.2

-

1,431.2

12. Operating lease commitments

Particulars of principal subsidiary undertakings are listed on page 79, which forms part of these financial statements.

At 31 December 2004 the Group was committed to making the following payments during the next year in respect of operating leases:

15. Stocks

Net values
31 December 2004

7.5

16.9

24.4

31 December 2003

9.8

20.5

30.3

Leases which expire:
Within one year
Within two to five years
After five years
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Land and
buildings
2004
£m

Other
2004
£m

Land and
buildings
2003
£m

Other
2003
£m

0.3
1.7
4.6

0.4
5.0
-

0.1
0.8
3.8

0.8
5.1
-

6.6

5.4

4.7

5.9

All of the above investments are unlisted.

Raw materials and consumables
Finished goods and goods for resale
Residential developments
Land
Development and construction costs
Commercial, industrial and mixed development properties

Group
2004
£m

2003
£m

3.2
85.7

3.5
54.3

1,536.8
817.5
175.7

1,581.5
781.5
175.9

2,618.9

2,596.7
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16. Debtors

Receivable within one year
Trade debtors
Amounts recoverable on contracts
Group undertakings
Joint ventures
Other debtors
Prepayments and accrued income
Receivable after one year
Prepayments and accrued income
Other debtors

18. Creditors: amounts falling due after one year
Group
2004
£m

2003
As restated
(note 23)
£m

Company
2004
£m

2003
£m

83.3
47.3
0.3
97.2
22.9

89.9
43.5
0.2
120.3
29.6

856.0
7.0
3.6

626.7
1.0
5.3

3.8
27.3

2.2
10.3

0.6

0.6

282.1

296.0

867.2

633.6

Other debtors receivable after one year includes deferred taxation of Group £23.2m (2003 as restated: £10.0m) and company
£0.6m (2003: £0.6m). Other deferred taxation balances are included in notes 22 and 23. The movements in Group and company
net deferred taxation assets are as follows:
Group
£m

Company
£m

31 December 2003 as previously stated
Prior year adjustment (note 23)

7.3
54.3

0.6
-

31 December 2003 as restated
Changes in exchange rates
Credited to profit and loss account
Charged to statement of total recognised gains and losses

61.6
0.1
3.2
(5.0)

0.6
-

31 December 2004

59.9

0.6

2003
As restated
(note 23)
£m

Company
2004
£m

2003
£m

615.3
3.6
9.7
79.6
2.5

393.2
346.3
105.9
0.2

557.2
-

333.0
341.9
-

710.7

845.6

557.2

674.9

Trade creditors include the following amounts in respect of land, of which £144.7m (2003: £178.8m) is secured against land
acquired for development:

Due within one year
Due in more than one year but not more than two years
Due in more than two years but not more than five years
Due in more than five years

Group
2004
£m

2003
£m

93.0
57.6
21.9
0.1

147.8
39.3
55.7
10.9

172.6

253.7

Trade creditors due after one year are interest free, have a weighted average life of 1.8 years (2003: 2.8 years) and are
denominated £64.1m (2003: £98.6m) in sterling, £nil (2003: £0.8m) in US dollars, £11.7m (2003: £6.5m) in Canadian dollars and
£3.8m (2003: £nil) in euros. There is no material difference between the fair value and the book value of these financial liabilities.

19. Debenture loans

The Group net deferred taxation asset of £59.9m (2003 as restated: £61.6m) relates to the post-retirement liability timing
differences of £43.5m (2003 as restated: £55.8m), short-term timing differences of £15.3m (2003 as restated: £13.8m) and capital
allowances less than depreciation of £1.1m (2003: offset by capital allowances of £8.0m). The company deferred taxation asset
relates to short-term timing differences.

17. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

Debenture loans (note 19)
Bank loans and overdrafts (note 20)
Payments received on account
Trade creditors (note 18)
Group undertakings
Joint ventures
Taxation on profits
Other taxation and social security
Other creditors
Accruals and deferred income
Dividends

Debenture loans (note 19)
Bank loans (note 20)
Payments received on account
Trade creditors
Accruals and deferred income

Group
2004
£m

Group
2004
£m

2003
As restated
(note 23)
£m

Company
2004
£m

2003
£m

16.3
40.9
116.7
391.6
0.5
67.8
6.3
7.8
208.1
45.5

34.1
115.8
78.1
473.1
0.6
39.8
11.1
22.5
188.5
37.4

6.1
4.8
410.7
0.2
25.0
45.5

9.6
90.0
635.5
1.3
0.2
18.2
37.4

901.5

1,001.0

492.3

792.2

Group
2004
£m

2003
£m

Company
2004
£m

2003
£m

10.2
49.5
7.2
3.8
230.7
38.9
90.7
196.9

12.3
13.0
49.5
9.0
6.6
236.3
96.7
-

2.3
3.8
230.7
38.9
90.7
196.9

3.0
6.6
236.3
96.7
-

0.1
3.6

0.2
3.7

-

-

631.6

427.3

563.3

342.6

Repayable
In more than one year but not more than two years
In more than two years but not more than five years
In more than five years – instalment loans
– other

2.3
54.9
0.9
557.2

2.3
56.6
1.3
333.0

557.2

333.0

Total falling due in more than one year
Within one year or on demand

615.3
16.3

393.2
34.1

557.2
6.1

333.0
9.6

631.6

427.3

563.3

342.6

6.92% debentures 2004 – unsecured
Floating rate notes 2006 – unsecured
7.04% notes 2008 – unsecured
7.333% debentures 2008 – unsecured
Floating rate notes 2008 – unsecured
6.625% bonds 2012 – unsecured
9.5% first mortgage debenture stock 2014 – secured
5.53% notes 2011 – unsecured
6.03% notes 2014 – unsecured
6.375% bonds 2019 – unsecured
Other secured loans at rates of interest from 6.5% to 11.4%
Repayable wholly within five years
Repayable by instalments over periods exceeding five years

Charges for secured loans have been given principally on certain development properties.
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19. Debenture loans continued

21. Financial instruments

The fair value of the Group’s debenture loans is principally determined by reference to market prices and as at 31 December 2004
was as follows:

The Group’s Treasury objectives, policies and strategies are detailed in the Operational and Financial Review on page 28.

6.92% debentures 2004 – unsecured
Floating rate notes 2006 – unsecured
7.04% notes 2008 – unsecured
7.333% debentures 2008 – unsecured
Floating rate notes 2008 – unsecured
6.625% bonds 2012 – unsecured
9.5% first mortgage debenture stock 2014 – secured
5.53% notes 2011 – unsecured
6.03% notes 2014 – unsecured
6.375% bonds 2019 – unsecured
Other secured loans

2004
Book value
£m

2004
Fair value
£m

2003
Book value
£m

2003
Fair value
£m

10.2
49.5
7.2
3.8
230.7
38.9
90.7
196.9
3.7

10.2
51.7
7.5
3.8
242.3
39.8
94.2
208.6
3.9

12.3
13.0
49.5
9.0
6.6
236.3
96.7
3.9

12.8
13.0
51.9
9.4
6.6
246.6
129.4
4.2

631.6

662.0

427.3

473.9

Group
2004
£m

2003
£m

Company
2004
£m

2003
£m

0.6
3.0

342.8
3.5

-

341.9
-

Floating rate borrowings bear interest based on short-term inter-bank rates (principally LIBOR or equivalent applicable to periods
of three months or less). Cash, which is all at floating rates, yields interest based on short-term bank rates applicable to periods of
three months or less.

3.6
40.9

346.3
115.8

4.8

341.9
90.0

The above table does not include long-term trade creditors which are referred to in note 18.

44.5

462.1

4.8

431.9

Currency analysis of net monetary assets/(liabilities) denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the
operations involved:

20. Bank loans and overdrafts

At rates of interest from 3.94% to 25.49%
Repayable:
In more than two years but not more than five years
In more than five years – otherwise than by instalments
Total falling due in more than one year
In one year or less or on demand

In accordance with FRS 13, the disclosures set out below exclude all short-term debtors and creditors.
Interest rates and currencies of cash and debt:

31 December 2004
Sterling
US dollars
Canadian dollars
Other

At 31 December 2004, the Group had undrawn, committed borrowing facilities of £800m expiring in 2008 (2003: facilities expiring
in more than two years £308.1m and in one year or less £210.0m, totalling £518.1m).

Floating
rate debt

Fixed
rate debt

Weighted
average
interest rate

£m

£m

£m

%

Weighted
average
time until
maturity
years

12.0
52.2
36.8
17.4

45.8
83.4
7.8
3.8

394.8
130.8
9.7
-

6.6
5.8
8.4
-

10.3
8.6
2.3
-

118.4

140.8

535.3

6.4

9.7

68.8
44.6
19.1
14.0

473.7
88.8
5.0
2.5

294.2
1.0
24.2
-

7.8
8.3
7.6
-

8.3
4.5
1.7
-

146.5

570.0

319.4

7.8

7.8

31 December 2003
Sterling
US dollars
Canadian dollars
Other

Group secured bank loans and overdrafts amounted to £12.7m (2003: £8.0m). Secured bank loans and overdrafts are secured
principally on certain fixed asset properties and land.
The fair value of bank loans and overdrafts at 31 December 2004 and 2003 is similar to their book value at those dates.

Fixed rate debt
Cash

Net monetary assets/(liabilities) denominated in other currencies

Functional currency of operations

US dollars
£m

Other
£m

Total
£m

31 December 2004
Sterling
Canadian dollars

6.5
2.7

(3.4)
-

3.1
2.7

Total

9.2

(3.4)

5.8

31 December 2003
Sterling
Canadian dollars
Other

1.7
1.0
(3.5)

1.8
(8.5)

3.5
1.0
(12.0)

Total

(0.8)

(6.7)

(7.5)

Derivative financial instruments held to manage the Group’s interest rate and currency profile have been excluded from the
above disclosures and are noted separately below. The Group has forward contracts to hedge intra-group loans receivable of
US$79m (2003: US$118.5m) to Canadian dollars, US$110m (2003: US$2.5m) to sterling and unil (2003: u7.6m) to sterling.
The company has currency swaps relating to part of its 6.625% bonds 2012 which have swapped £100m into US$160.5m to
hedge part of its investment in the United States of America and the interest on this has been swapped from 6.625% to floating
rates based on US$ LIBOR applicable to periods of three months. The company’s 5.53% notes 2011 and 6.03% notes 2014
totalling US$250m (£129.6m) hedge the balance of the company’s investment and US$20.5m of the Group’s additional net
assets in the United States of America.
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21. Financial instruments continued

23. Net post-retirement liability continued

The Group has a currency swap relating to the 7.04% loan notes 2008 acquired with Bryant Group plc in 2001. They were issued
by way of a US$81m 6.59% fixed rate US private placement. The dollar proceeds were swapped into sterling at a fixed rate of
interest of 7.04%. The combined fair value of the loans and swaps is shown in note 19.

In the cash flow statement the increase in operating profit noted above is matched by a corresponding decrease in creditors with
no change in the net cash flow from operating activities. Post-retirement health care insurance premiums accruals for retired longservice employees previously shown as accruals of £4.0m (including £0.2m due under one year) at 31 December 2003 are now
shown as part of the net post-retirement liability net of £1.2m deferred tax asset, previously shown within debtors.

The Group also has a five year cap and collar arrangement to December 2007 limiting the three month LIBOR interest rate to
between 3.99% and 6.5% on £30.0m, together with a ten year interest swap to December 2012 on £35.0m from floating rate to
a fixed interest rate of 5.8%. The book value of these derivatives acquired with Wilson Connolly Holdings Plc in 2003 is a creditor
at 31 December 2004 of £2.8m (2003: £4.1m); the fair value is a creditor of £2.2m (2003: £2.5m).

22. Provisions for liabilities and charges
Group
£m

Pension obligations
31 December 2003 as previously stated
Prior year adjustment (note 23)

8.3
(8.3)

31 December 2003 as restated

-

31 December 2004

-

Deferred taxation
31 December 2003
Changes in exchange rates
Charged to profit and loss account

4.2
(0.4)
3.0

31 December 2004

6.8

The balance arose from the effect of short-term timing differences of £6.0m (2003: £3.2m) and accelerated capital allowances of
£0.8m (2003: £1.0m). The net deferred taxation asset of the Group is set out in note 16. There is no unprovided deferred taxation.
Housing maintenance
31 December 2003
Changes in exchange rates
Charged to profit and loss account
Utilised

31.8
(0.7)
40.3
(40.8)

31 December 2004

30.6

The provisions in respect of housing maintenance arise principally from warranties and other liabilities on housing sold and
payment of these costs is likely to occur over a period of ten years.
Total provisions

37.4

The Group operates Defined Benefit and Defined Contribution pension schemes. In the UK, the Taylor Woodrow Group Pension
and Life Assurance Fund (TWGP&LAF) and the Taylor Woodrow NHS Pension Scheme (TWNHSPS) are funded Defined Benefit
schemes providing pensions related to pay at retirement. The TWGP&LAF merged with the Bryant Group Pension Scheme
(BGPS) on 24 June 2002 and with the Wilson Connolly Holdings Pension Scheme (WCHPS), the Wainhomes Limited Pension
Scheme (WHLPS) and the Prestoplan Pension Scheme (PPS) on 27 August 2004. The schemes are managed by trustees. All
scheme assets are held separately from the Group. With the exception of the TWNHSPS the Defined Benefit schemes are closed
to new entrants. An alternative Defined Contribution arrangement, the Taylor Woodrow Personal Choice Plan, is offered to new
employees. The Group also operates a number of overseas pension schemes of the defined benefit type.
The most recent formal actuarial valuations of the defined benefit schemes were carried out at 1 June 2002 in the case of the
TWGP&LAF, 1 April 2001 in the case of the BGPS, 1 February 2003 in the case of the WCHPS, 1 April 2001 in the case of the
WHLPS and 1 January 2001 in the case of the PPS. Following the merger of these schemes a new actuarial valuation is being
carried out. The TWNHSPS commenced in December 2003 and the Actuary will be preparing the initial valuation shortly.
Consequently no financial assumption disclosures have been provided for this scheme, which is not material. The projected unit
method was used in all valuations and assets were taken into account using market values.
The main financial assumptions, which are all relative to the inflation assumption, are as set out below:
Assumptions

TWGP&LAF

Inflation
Investment return – pre/post retirement
General pay inflation
Pension increases

BGPS

WCHPS

WHLPS

PPS

2.5% p.a.
2.5% p.a.
2.5% p.a.
3.0% p.a.
3.25% p.a.
4.5/3.5% p.a. 4.0/3.0% p.a. 5.0/2.5% p.a. 4.0/4.0% p.a.4.25/4.25% p.a.
2.0% p.a.
2.0% p.a.
1.5% p.a.
2.0% p.a.
2.0% p.a.
0% p.a.
0.5% p.a.
0.5% p.a.
1.0% p.a.
0% p.a.

Valuation results

TWGP&LAF

BGPS

WCHPS

WHLPS

PPS

£460.1m
£495.1m
93%

£82.7m
£88.4m
93%

£24.2m
£34.0m
71%

£6.4m
£7.5m
85%

£2.4m
£1.8m
130%

Market value of assets
Past service liabilities
Scheme funding levels

The actuaries to each scheme calculated the long-term funding rates to be 22.0% p.a. (TWGP&LAF), 13.7% (BGPS), 21.1%
(WCHPS), 14.0% (WHLPS) and 15.0% (PPS) of each scheme’s respective pensionable salary roll. The Group has decided to pay
an additional £1.09m p.a. for 6 years from 2002 to correct the under funding position in respect of BGPS liabilities and an
additional £15,000 a month to correct the under funding position in respect of WHLPS liabilities.
The funding policy of the Trustees is to maintain a stable contribution rate with a funding level in excess of 100%.

23. Net post-retirement liability
The Group has adopted FRS 17 ‘Retirement benefits’ in full for the year to 31 December 2004 and comparative figures for 2003
have been restated accordingly. Net post-retirement liability comprises net pensions liability of £98.9m (2003: £127.3m) and net
post-retirement health care liability of £2.7m (2003: £2.8m). For the year to 31 December 2003, the Group previously accounted
for retirement benefits under SSAP 24 and gave disclosures under the FRS 17 transitional arrangements.
The adoption of FRS 17 has led to an increase of £1.7m in operating profit for the year to 31 December 2003. There was also an
increase in finance charges of £5.2m for the year to 31 December 2003. The tax impact of these changes was a decrease of
£0.9m for the year to 31 December 2003. The overall effect of adopting FRS 17 was a decrease in retained profit for the financial
year of £2.6m for the year to 31 December 2003. Apart from the exceptional item regarding curtailment of pensions liability
(note 2), the effect of the prior year adjustment on the current year profit is not otherwise material. The adoption of this standard
has resulted in a reduction of £117.6m in net assets at 31 December 2003. On the basis that Wilson Connolly Holdings Plc was
acquired on 2 October 2003, less than three months prior to 31 December 2003, the adjustment at 31 December 2003 includes
an increase in goodwill of £9.1m as the fair value of the pensions liability (net of deferred tax) acquired has now been included on
a FRS 17 basis rather than, as previously, on a SSAP 24 basis.
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The valuations of the Group’s pension schemes have been updated to 31 December 2004 and the position of overseas schemes
has been included within the FRS 17 disclosures. The principal actuarial assumptions used in the calculation of the disclosure
items are as follows:
United Kingdom
As at 31 December
Discount rate for scheme liabilities
Inflation
General pay inflation
Pension increases

2004
5.3%
2.8%
2.5%
2.5%

North America
2003
5.4%
2.8%
3.8%
2.5%

2002
5.6%
2.3%
3.3%
2.0%

2004
5.9-6.0%
3.5-4.0%
4.0-4.5%
0.0-3.0%

2003
6.0-6.25%
3.5-4.0%
4.0-4.5%
0.0-3.0%

2002
6.5-6.75%
3.5-4.0%
4.0-4.5%
0.0-4.0%

The above annual assumptions are prescribed by FRS 17 and do not reflect the assumptions that may be used in future funding
valuations of the Group’s pension schemes.
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23. Net post-retirement liability continued

23. Net post-retirement liability continued
2004
£m

The fair value of assets and actuarial value of liabilities of the Group’s pension arrangements, including overseas schemes, are set
out below:
31 December 2004

Expected
rate of return
% p.a.

United
Kingdom
£m

North
America
£m

Total plans
£m

Assets:
Equities
Bonds
Other assets

6.6
4.1
4.9

382.1
96.5
132.6

10.8
5.1
1.1

392.9
101.6
133.7

Actuarial value of liabilities

611.2
(751.7)

17.0
(17.8)

628.2
(769.5)

Deficit
Related deferred tax asset

(140.5)
42.1

(0.8)
0.3

(141.3)
42.4

(98.4)

(0.5)

(98.9)

Net pension liability
Expected
rate of return
% p.a.

United
Kingdom
£m

North
America
£m

Total plans
£m

6.9
5.4
5.4

356.9
110.3
99.4

9.9
5.2
1.1

366.8
115.5
100.5

Actuarial value of liabilities

566.6
(747.5)

16.2
(17.2)

582.8
(764.7)

Deficit
Related deferred tax asset

(180.9)
54.2

(1.0)
0.4

(181.9)
54.6

Net pension liability

(126.7)

(0.6)

(127.3)

31 December 2003
Assets:
Equities
Bonds
Other assets

Expected
rate of return
% p.a.

United
Kingdom
£m

North
America
£m

Total plans
£m

7.0
5.5
5.5

279.2
98.0
90.4

5.4
3.2
5.9

284.6
101.2
96.3

Actuarial value of liabilities

467.6
(629.9)

14.5
(15.2)

482.1
(645.1)

Deficit
Related deferred tax asset

(162.3)
48.7

(0.7)
0.5

(163.0)
49.2

Net pension liability

(113.6)

(0.2)

(113.8)

31 December 2002
Assets:
Equities
Bonds
Other assets

2004
£m

2003
As restated
£m

Amount credited to/(charged against) profits:
Current service cost
Exceptional credit – curtailment of pensions liability (note 2)

(9.9)
24.8

(10.2)
-

Operating credit/(cost)

14.9

(10.2)

36.8
(41.0)

31.1
(36.3)

(4.2)

(5.2)

10.7

(15.4)

Expected return on scheme assets
Interest cost on scheme liabilities
Finance charges
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Actuarial gains in the statement of total recognised gains and losses:
Difference between actual and expected return on scheme assets
Experience (losses)/gains arising on scheme liabilities
Changes in assumptions

2003
As restated
£m

22.0
(21.5)
15.0

44.9
38.2
(81.8)

15.5

1.3

2004
£m

2003
£m

Movement in scheme deficit:
Opening deficit in the schemes
Current service cost
Curtailment gain
Contributions
Other finance expense
Actuarial gain
Acquisition

(181.9)
(9.9)
24.8
14.4
(4.2)
15.5
-

(163.0)
(10.2)
13.1
(5.2)
1.3
(17.9)

Closing deficit in the schemes

(141.3)

(181.9)

History of experience gains and losses:
Difference between actual and expected return on scheme assets
Amount
Percentage of scheme assets
Experience (losses)/gains arising on scheme liabilities
Amount
Percentage of scheme liabilities
Total actuarial gains/(losses)
Amount
Percentage of scheme liabilities

2004
£m

2003
£m

2002
£m

22.0
4%

44.9
8%

(78.1)
16%

(21.5)
3%

38.2
5%

(69.1)
11%

15.5
2%

1.3
0%

(138.8)
22%

The net post-retirement liability also includes £2.7m at 31 December 2004 (2003: £2.8m) in respect of continuing post-retirement
health care insurance premiums for retired long-service employees. The liability is based upon the actuarial assessment of the
remaining cost by a qualified actuary on a net present value basis at 31 December 2004. The cost is calculated assuming a
discount rate of 5% per annum and an increase in medical expenses of 12.2% per annum. The premium cost to the Group in
respect of retired long-service employees for 2004 was £0.2m (2003: £0.2m). The deferred tax asset deducted in arriving at the
net liability was £1.1m at 31 December 2004 (2003: £1.2m).

24. Share capital
Group & company
2004
2003
£m
£m

Authorised
40,000,000 floating rate cumulative redeemable preference shares of 25p each
(2003: 40,000,000)
780,000,000 ordinary shares of 25p each (2003: 780,000,000)

Called up, allotted and fully paid cumulative redeemable preference shares
31 December 2003
Redemption of preference shares in the year
31 December 2004

10.0
195.0

10.0
195.0

205.0

205.0

Number of
shares

£m

40,000,000
(40,000,000)

10.0
(10.0)

-

-
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24. Share capital continued

28. Other reserve
Group & company
£m

Called up, allotted and fully paid ordinary shares
Number of
shares

Group & company
£m

31 December 2003
Options exercised
Share Purchase Plan
Long-service awards

584,188,384
2,108,373
267,270
9,226

146.1
0.5
0.1
-

31 December 2004

586,573,253

146.7

Non-equity shareholders’ funds at 31 December 2003 (2004: £nil) related entirely to the floating rate cumulative redeemable
preference shares. These shares carried an entitlement to dividend based on percentages per annum including a margin of 1.2 per
cent above LIBOR to 30 March 2004. The shares were redeemed on 31 March 2004 for £100.0m being the amount equal to the
capital paid up on the shares together with the premium credited as paid thereon. The fair value of these shares at 31 December
2003 was equal to their book value.
During the year, options were exercised on 2,108,373 ordinary shares at varying prices from 90.88p to 246.5p and that number of
shares was issued for a total consideration of £3.1m. 133,635 ordinary shares were purchased by employees under the Share
Purchase Plan and matched 1:1 by the company, aggregating 267,270 shares at a fair value of 239.75p per share for consideration
of £0.6m. Additionally 9,226 ordinary shares with fair values of 238.5p to 285.0p were issued and awarded to employees for
twenty-five or forty years’ long service totalling £0.0m.
Under the Group’s senior executives’ share option scheme and executive share option plan, employees held options at 31
December 2004 to purchase 17,164,564 shares (2003: 19,735,955) at prices between 149.0p and 252.75p per share exercisable
up to 8 October 2013. Under the Group’s savings-related share option schemes, employees held options at 31 December 2004
to purchase 6,908,480 shares (2003: 8,183,878) at prices between 90.88p and 226.8p per share exercisable up to 31 May 2010.
Under the Group’s cash bonus deferral plan, executive bonus plan and California bonus plan, employees held options at
31 December 2004 in respect of 1,293,849 shares (2003: 653,628) at nil p per share exercisable up to 1 April 2014. Under the
Group’s performance share plan employees held conditional awards at 31 December 2004 in respect of 3,207,284 shares
(2003: nil) at nil p per share exercisable up to 9 May 2009.

31 December 2003
Credited to profit and loss account

1.1
(1.1)

31 December 2004

-

The other reserve was in respect of accrued finance costs for preference dividends for the period to 31 December 2003 charged
to profit and loss account for 2003. In 2004 a preference dividend of £2.4m was paid and charged to profit and loss account and the
accrual brought forward was credited to profit and loss account to leave a net profit and loss account charge of £1.3m in respect of
these costs.

29. Profit and loss account
Group
£m

31 December 2003 as previously stated
Prior year adjustment (note 23)

745.4
(117.6)

326.7
-

31 December 2003 as restated
Exchange differences
Redemption of preference shares
Transfers to share premium account
Transfer from revaluation reserve
Actuarial gains net of deferred taxation
Balance for the year retained

627.8
(4.1)
(100.0)
0.7
33.5
10.5
201.5

326.7
(100.0)
0.7
157.3

31 December 2004

769.9

384.7

The profit of the company for the financial year was £220.6m (2003: £36.6m).
In accordance with the Group’s policy, the cumulative amount charged to retained profit and loss account in prior years in respect
of positive goodwill is £4.1m (2003: £4.1m) net of amounts attributable to companies sold or closed; this goodwill would be
charged against profit before taxation on subsequent disposal of the businesses to which it related.

25. Share premium account
Group & company
£m

30. Own shares
Group
2004
£m

2003
£m

58.4

14.7

Company
2004
£m

2003
£m

62.1

14.9

31 December 2003
Amortisation of debenture loans transferred from profit and loss account
Premium on ordinary shares issued during the year less expenses of issues

745.7
(0.7)
3.1

Own shares

31 December 2004

748.1

These comprise ordinary shares of the company:

Number

Number

Treasury shares
Shares held in trust for bonus, option and performance award plans

19.4m
6.6m

19.4m
6.5m

26. Revaluation reserve
Group
£m

31 December 2003
Unrealised exchange differences
Realised and transferred to profit and loss account
31 December 2004

Company
£m

Company
£m

38.4
(4.9)
(33.5)

-

-

-

The market value of the shares at 31 December 2004 was Group £70.7m and company £70.4m (2003: Group £23.0m and
company £22.8m) and their nominal value was Group £6.5m and company £6.5m (2003: Group £2.2m and company £2.1m).
Dividends on these shares have been waived except for 0.01p per share in respect of the shares held in trust. The shares held in
trust are all held to meet options to be exercised by employees. The Group investment in own shares is stated after deduction of
£3.8m (2003: £0.4m) for bonus and performance awards charged to profit and loss account cumulatively.

31. Minority interests

27. Capital redemption reserve

Equity
£m

Group & company
£m

31 December 2003
Redemption of preference shares in the year

21.5
10.0

31 December 2004

31.5

Non-equity
£m

Total
£m

31 December 2003
Profit on ordinary activities after taxation
Dividends paid and proposed

0.3
0.5
(0.6)

0.8
0.1
(0.1)

1.1
0.6
(0.7)

31 December 2004

0.2

0.8

1.0

Non-equity minority interests comprise 249,882 8% cumulative irredeemable 1st preference shares of £1 each and 531,001
10.5% cumulative irredeemable 2nd preference shares of £1 each in Wilson Connolly Holdings Limited. The shares do not entitle
the holders to any rights against other Group companies.
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Particulars of Principal Subsidiary Undertakings

32. Group cash flow statement
2004
£m

2003
As restated
(note 23)
£m

Reconciliation of operating profit to net cash flow from operating activities
Operating profit
Depreciation and amortisation
Increase in stocks
Decrease/(increase) in debtors
(Decrease)/increase in creditors
Exchange adjustments

474.5
27.1
(54.0)
26.1
(79.0)
5.7

339.5
21.8
(201.3)
(56.0)
142.3
1.1

Net cash inflow from operating activities

400.4

247.4

Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net debt
Decrease in cash in year
Cash outflow/(inflow) from decrease/(increase) in debt
Cash inflow from decrease in liquid resources

(2.5)
213.5
(38.7)

(10.3)
(210.4)
(39.8)

Change in net debt resulting from cash flows
Amortisation of debt
Loan notes issued as part of consideration for acquisition
Debt acquired with subsidiary
Exchange movement

172.3
0.6
12.3

(260.5)
(0.7)
(6.6)
(219.6)
4.9

Movement in net debt in the year
Net debt at 1 January

185.2
(742.9)

(482.5)
(260.4)

Net debt at 31 December

(557.7)

(742.9)

Country of incorporation
and principal operations

Housing
United Kingdom
Canada

Irish Republic (resident in the
United Kingdom)
Spain
USA

Taylor Woodrow plc interest is 100% in the issued ordinary share capital
of these undertakings included in the consolidated accounts
(*Interests held by subsidiary undertakings)

Taylor Woodrow Developments Limited*#
Taylor Woodrow Holdings Limited
Taylor Woodrow Holdings of Canada Limited
Monarch Corporation *##
Monarch Development Corporation*
Taylor Woodrow Finance Ireland
Taylor Woodrow de España S.A.###
Taylor Woodrow Holdings/Arizona, Inc.*
Taylor Woodrow Homes, Inc.*
Taylor Woodrow Homes Florida, Inc.*
Taylor Woodrow, Inc.*
Monarch Holdings (USA), Inc.*####
Monarch Homes of Florida, Inc.*

Property Development and Investment
United Kingdom
Taylor Woodrow Developments Limited*#
Taylor Woodrow Property Company Limited
Clipper Investments Limited*
Pennant Investments Limited*
St. Katharine by the Tower Limited*
Construction
United Kingdom

Taylor Woodrow Construction Limited

Analysis of net debt
At
1 January
2004
£m

Cash at bank and in hand
Less: Deposits due after one day
Overdrafts on demand

146.5
(73.6)
(25.1)

Cash
flow

Non-cash
changes

Exchange
movement

£m

£m

£m

(26.1)
38.7
(15.1)

At
31 December
2004
£m

-

(2.0)
(0.5)
(0.1)

118.4
(35.4)
(40.3)

Notes
#
Variable rate, cumulative, non-voting, irredeemable preference shares are additionally held.
##
9.5% non-cumulative, non-voting, redeemable preference shares and 9% non-cumulative, non-voting, redeemable
preference shares are additionally held.
###
9% cumulative, redeemable preference shares are additionally held.
#### Non-voting, redeemable preferred shares are additionally held.

(2.5)
Debt due after one year
Debenture loans
Bank loans
Debt due within one year
Debenture loans
Bank loans and overdrafts
Add back overdrafts on demand

(393.2)
(346.3)

(237.7)
342.0

1.6
0.6

14.0
0.1

(615.3)
(3.6)

(34.1)
(115.8)
25.1

19.8
74.3
15.1

(2.3)
0.7
-

0.3
(0.1)
0.1

(16.3)
(40.9)
40.3

213.5
Liquid resources
Deposits due after one day
Total

73.6

(38.7)

-

0.5

35.4

(742.9)

172.3

0.6

12.3

(557.7)

33. Acquisition of Wilson Connolly Holdings Plc
The fair value of the net assets acquired in 2003 has been revised from £378.1m to £362.1m. This was primarily due to increasing
the fair value of the provision for net pensions liability by £9.1m (net of deferred taxation of £4.0m) as a prior year adjustment
following the adoption of FRS 17 (note 23). Other revisions in 2004 were a reduction in the fair value of tangible assets by £1.5m,
a reduction in the fair value of stocks by £5.1m and an increase in other provisions of £0.3m. Hence goodwill on acquisition has
increased by £16.0m from £121.9m to £137.9m.

34. Contingent liabilities
The Group and the parent company have entered into performance bonds and agreements in the normal course of business.
The parent company has given guarantees in respect of Group undertakings of £3.2m (2003: £4.9m).
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FiveYear Review

Principal Taylor Woodrow Offices
2004
£m

2003
£m

2002
£m

2001
£m

2000
£m

Profit and loss account
Group turnover (plus share of joint ventures’ turnover)

3,361.2

2,672.9

2,215.8

2,149.9

1,557.9

Group operating profit (plus share of joint ventures’
operating profit)
Profit on disposal of discontinued operations
Profit on disposal of properties and investments
Net interest payable and other finance charges

474.7
23.1
(107.4)

340.6
6.3
(46.4)

259.7
8.1
(34.7)

227.5
7.9
(33.1)

171.2
31.7
18.6
(20.0)

Profit before taxation
Taxation charge
Minority interests

390.4
(125.0)
(0.6)

300.5
(100.6)
(0.4)

233.1
(76.9)
(1.1)

202.3
(64.8)
(2.5)

201.5
(54.4)
(7.3)

Profit for the financial year
Dividends (including on non-equity shares of
£2.4m in 2004)
Difference between non-equity finance costs
and the related dividends

264.8

199.5

155.1

135.0

139.8

(64.4)

(50.4)

(40.6)

(37.2)

(31.7)

1.1

(1.1)

-

-

-

Profit retained

201.5

148.0

114.5

97.8

108.1

Balance sheet
Intangible assets - goodwill
Investment properties
Other fixed assets
Net current assets (excluding cash and debt)
Non-current creditors (excluding debt) and provisions

342.8
27.8
2,056.7
(230.8)

356.7
160.2
33.6
2,041.6
(272.2)

241.4
183.9
24.3
1,303.3
(99.2)

247.0
259.9
72.2
1,114.5
(39.2)

346.7
76.9
539.5
(28.4)

Capital employed

2,196.5

2,319.9

1,653.7

1,654.4

934.7

10.0
146.1
745.7
38.4
21.5
1.1
627.8
(14.7)

138.2
591.2
63.4
21.5
591.6
(12.6)

137.9
590.5
134.2
21.5
472.1
(4.3)

95.8
233.7
142.5
14.2
401.5
(7.2)

1,637.8
1.0
557.7

1,575.9
1.1
742.9

1,393.3
260.4

1,351.9
0.6
301.9

880.5
3.1
51.1

2,196.5

2,319.9

1,653.7

1,654.4

934.7

Represented by:
Called up non-equity preference share capital
Called up equity ordinary share capital
Share premium account
Revaluation reserve
Capital redemption reserve
Other reserve
Profit and loss account
Own shares
Shareholders’ funds
Minority interests
Net debt

Statistics
Number of ordinary shares in issue at
year end (millions)
Basic earnings per share
Dividends per ordinary share
Equity shareholders’ funds per share
Dividend cover (times)
Net gearing

146.7
748.1
31.5
769.9
(58.4)

586.6
46.2p
11.1p
292.2p
4.2
34.1%

584.2
36.0p
8.9p
256.2p
4.0
47.1%

552.7
28.2p
7.4p
255.6p
3.8
18.7%

551.5
25.3p
6.7p
246.3p
3.8
22.3%

383.0
37.0p
6.12p
232.5p
6.0
5.8%

The figures for 2003 were restated in 2004 in respect of the change of accounting policy for retirement benefits to comply with FRS 17.
The figures for 2000 to 2002 were restated in 2003 to include investments in own shares as a deduction from shareholders’ funds
rather than within net debt.
The figures for 2001 were restated in 2002 in respect of the change in accounting policy for deferred tax to comply with FRS 19.
The figures for 2000 were restated in 2001 to show Group turnover including share of joint ventures.

80 Taylor Woodrow Report and Accounts 2004

UK Central Office
Taylor Woodrow plc
2 Princes Way, Solihull
West Midlands B91 3ES
Tel: + 44 (0)121 600 8000
Fax: + 44 (0)121 600 8001
Regional Offices and Contacts
Scotland
Taylor Woodrow Developments Limited
2 Garbett Road, Kirkton Campus
Livingston EH54 7DL
Tel: + 44 (0)1506 405 700
Fax: + 44 (0)1506 405 701
North East and Yorkshire
Taylor Woodrow Developments Limited
Century Way, Thorpe Business Park
Leeds, West Yorkshire LS15 8ZB
Tel: + 44 (0)113 232 1400
Fax: + 44 (0)113 232 1401

South East
Taylor Woodrow Developments Limited
Central House
11-13 Brighton Road
Crawley, West Sussex RH10 6AE
Tel: + 44 (0)1293 744 000
Fax: + 44 (0)1293 744 100
South West
Taylor Woodrow Developments Limited
Riverside Court
Bowling Hill
Chipping Sodbury
Bristol BS37 6JX
Tel: + 44 (0)1454 323 540
Fax: + 44 (0)1454 310 759
Anglia
Taylor Woodrow Developments Limited
Unit 1 Craven Court
Willie Snaith Road, Newmarket
Suffolk CB8 7FA
Tel: + 44 (0)1638 665 036
Fax: + 44 (0)1638 666 519

North West
Taylor Woodrow Developments Limited
Taylor Woodrow House
The Beacons, Warrington Road
Birchwood, Warrington
Cheshire WA3 6XU
Tel: + 44 (0)1925 849 500
Fax: + 44 (0)1925 849 501

Construction

East Midlands
Taylor Woodrow Developments Limited
Taylor Woodrow House, Meridian East
Meridian Business Park,
Leicester LE19 1WZ
Tel: + 44 (0)116 245 6000
Fax: + 44 (0)116 245 6090

North America

West Midlands
Taylor Woodrow Developments Limited
2 Princes Way, Solihull
West Midlands B91 3ES
Tel: + 44 (0)121 600 8000
Fax: + 44 (0)121 600 8001
Eastern
Taylor Woodrow Developments Limited
1 Falcon Gate, Shire Park
Welwyn Garden City
Hertfordshire AL7 1TW
Tel: + 44 (0)1707 378 900
Fax: + 44 (0)1707 378 910
London
Taylor Woodrow Developments Limited
41/43 Clarendon Road
Watford, Hertfordshire WD17 1TR
Tel: + 44 (0)1923 478 844
Fax: + 44 (0)1923 478 818
South
Taylor Woodrow Developments Limited
St Catherine’s House, Oxford Square
Oxford Street, Newbury,
Berkshire RG14 1JQ
Tel: + 44 (0)1635 275 400
Telephone for fax numbers

Florida
Florida Homebuilding
Taylor Woodrow Homes Florida, Inc.
2950 Immokalee Road
Suite 2
Naples, FL 34110
Tel: + 00 (1) 239 592 0055
Fax: + 00 (1) 239 592 5395
Florida Hi-rise & Land Development
Taylor Woodrow U.S. Tower, Inc. and Taylor
Woodrow Developments of Florida, LLC.
877 Executive Center Drive West
Suite 205
St. Petersburg, FL 33602
Tel: + 00 (1) 727 563 9882
Fax: + 00 (1) 727 563 9674
Texas
Taylor Woodrow Homes Southwest LLC.
4401 Westgate Boulevard
Suite 350, Austin, TX 78745
Tel: + 00 (1) 512 691 6640
Fax: + 00 (1) 512 691 6650
Europe

Taylor Woodrow Construction Limited
41 Clarendon Road
Watford, Hertfordshire WD17 1TR
Tel: + 44 (0)1923 478 400
Fax: + 44 (0)1923 478 401

North American Corporate Office
Taylor Woodrow, Inc.
8430 Enterprise Circle, Ste. 100
Bradenton, FL 34202
Tel: + 00 (1)941 554 2000
Fax: + 00 (1)941 554 3005
Arizona
Taylor Woodrow Holdings/
Arizona, Inc.
6720 North Scottsdale Road
Ste. 390,
Scottsdale, AZ 85253
Tel: + 00 (1) 480 344 7000
Fax: + 00 (1) 480 344 7001
California
Taylor Woodrow Homes, Inc.
15 Cushing
Irvine, CA 92618
Tel: + 00 (1) 949 341 1200
Fax: + 00 (1) 949 341 1400
Canada
Monarch Corporation
Heron’s Hill
2025 Sheppard Avenue East
Ste. 1201
Willowdale, Ontario M2J 1V7
Canada
Tel: + 00 (1) 416 491 7440
Fax: + 00 (1) 416 491 7216

Spain
Taylor Woodrow de España S.A.
C/Aragón, 223-223A
07008 Palma de Mallorca
Mallorca, Spain
Tel: + 00 (34) 971 706 570
Fax: + 00 (34) 971 706 565
Gibraltar
Taylor Woodrow (Gibraltar) Limited
R 23 Ragged Staff Wharf
Queensway Quay
Queensway, PO Box 126
Gibraltar
Tel: + 00 (350) 78780
Fax: + 00 (350) 75529
Taylor Woodrow (Luxembourg) & Taylor
Woodrow (Luxembourg) Holdings SeNC
69A Boulevard de la Petrusse
L-2320 Luxembourg
Tel: + 00 (352) 26 64 92 83
Fax: + 00 (352) 26 64 92 84
Rest of the World
Taysec Construction Limited
4 Brewery Road
PO Box 1010, OSU
ACCRA, Ghana
Tel: + 00 (233) 21228544
Fax: + 00 (233) 21 220280
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